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Performance Report  
Principal’s Statement 
 
The purpose of this report is to provide a short summary of Inverness College’s performance during the 
2022/23 year. In general, we have performed well, mostly as a consequence of the Financial Recovery 
plan we put in place but also as a consequence of spreading risk, improving our data management and 
developing strategies and processes around targeted recruitment and conversion. 
 
Inverness College is a high performing institution, by any measure, with student outcomes and student 
feedback among the highest in the sector for 2022/23. 
 
Having experienced a strong recovery in demand for Further Education, we now find ourselves unable 
to meet local demand partly due to the multi-year flat funding settlement by Government but also 
because of the Regional Strategic Board’s (RSB) high costs and funding distribution mechanism. 
 
Our Apprenticeship programme continues to be in high demand, but again we have had to take difficult 
decisions to restrict delivery, due to reduced funding for Apprenticeships nationally.  We successfully 
fought a more significant reduction in Apprenticeship funding with the support of 86 of our partner 
employers in 2022/23.  
 
HE recruitment and conversion has again been challenging in 2022/23, particularly for degree 
programme.  Moving forward, our growing Graduate Apprenticeship offer is providing opportunities for 
growth, as the cost of living crisis and high employment requires us to follow our traditional HE audience 
into the workplace and provide more flexible options of study.   
 
As we reported last year, the increase in student support tripled for well-being and mental health 
support. We invested in our estate with the creation of ‘The Bothy’, an architecturally well-designed and 
well-staffed student support area and which, we know from student feedback and our Education 
Scotland quality review, is serving a vital role; but with a cost that was in part covered by the SFC 
commitment to well-being. We have also invested in free breakfast offerings to students recognising 
the fact that some of our students were only eating once a day. We are extending this in the 2022/23 
year to a lunch offering in the belief that it will support and maintain our students. 
 
We continue to support our staff in a similar vein to the students recognising that the impact of COVID 
and our worsening economic climate is particularly hard on fractional and some professional service 
staff. We have made a small number of discretional and discreet awards to staff with the support of the 
Board of Management and the unions. 
 
There continued to be a shortage of young people across the region which, coupled with the impact of 
Brexit and a significant loss of employees in some lower skilled areas mean that we, the schools and 
industry are competing for a shrinking pool of 16–24-year-olds within the region and we are also seeing 
competition from out-with the region. We believe that this had an impact upon our HE numbers, but, 
recognising this through agile planning and adapting, we maintained our financial health through the 
growth of the apprenticeship programmes and the consequent spreading of risk. 
 
The position of Inverness College continues to be financially sound and sustainable. Our key concerns 
and threats are now national and driven by economics that are beyond our control. However, we are 
building upon the industrial sector reviews, investing in our estate and ensuring the ‘currency’ of our 
academic provision to maintain our role in supporting our region’s communities and industry. 
  
 
 
Professor Christopher O’Neil 
Principal and Chief Executive Officer 
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Performance Report (contd.) 
 
Legal Status 
Inverness College was established under the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992. The 
College is a registered charity (Scottish Charity Number SC021197) for the purposes of the Charity and 
Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005.  
 
Under the terms of the Office of National Statistics, reclassification of Scotland’s colleges was 
implemented on 1 April 2014. This means that the college for accounting purposes is now part of the 
Scottish Government’s financial accounts, meaning that funding is provided by the Scottish Government 
according to need, and that colleges’ financial statements are now included as part of the Scottish 
Government’s total budget. The College has its own independent board, but also is a delivery partner 
as part of the University of the Highlands and Islands for Higher Education. As such, it has been allowed 
to keep its financial year-end at 31 July, but reports in terms of financial information to the Scottish 
Government at 31 March. Colleges’ budgets must fall within government spending limits, and Colleges 
may no longer retain annual surpluses. Colleges have been permitted to transfer any income and 
expenditure surpluses they make to foundations, as reserves are no longer allowed to be built up in 
colleges. This assumes the necessary cash is available to transfer. On 1 August 2014, Inverness 
College was assigned to the University of the Highlands and Islands as Regional Strategic Body for the 
Highlands and Islands area, in terms of the Post 16 Education (Scotland) Act 2013. This assignation 
relates to fundable Further Education provision.      
 
The Financial Statements cover all activities of the College.  
 
Strategic Purpose 2021-2025 
Inverness College Board approved in December 2021 a new Strategic Plan. 
 
As leaders in tertiary thinking and tertiary delivery, we will have a transformational impact on the 
development and prospects of the people, communities and economy of the Highlands and Islands. 
We will design and deliver an innovative, integrated curriculum that spans all levels and types of 
qualifications, providing world class education, training and research with local, national and 
international sustainable value. 
 
Core Values 2021-2025 

• Be Ambitious – through teamwork and partnership we have a desire and determination to 
collectively succeed.  

• Be Bold – we have passion and courage to do what we say we will do and exceed expectations.  
• Be Creative – we use our collective expertise and imagination to create new things and 

continuously improve what we do.  
 
The Strategic Aims cover: Tertiary Education; Organisational Development; Research and Innovation; 
Student Experience; and Finance and Sustainability. Underpinning strategies are being worked on for 
each of the strategic aims.  
 
Aim 1 Tertiary Education 
To increase our reputation and reach by offering a progressive and accessible tertiary curriculum that 
is relevant and attractive to local, national and international students, and which enables personal 
development, economic growth and social cohesion.  
 
Tertiary Education and Research have a shared vision which guides the integrated and interdisciplinary 
approach in all aspects of delivery of curriculum and research activity. 
 
We will be nationally and internationally recognised for impactful, interdisciplinary research and 
teaching in biodiversity, ecology, sustainability, culture, equity and social justice that informs innovative 
tertiary education. This will deliver on sustainable development goals which address the biodiversity 
and climate emergencies and empower communities across our region. 
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Action - Work is soon to be commenced by external consultants as a UHI-wide exercise on reviewing 
FE and HE Curriculum offering. This is due to be completed by the summer of 2024. 
 
Aim 2 Organisational Development 
We will attract and retain talented employees committed to achieving our shared goals. We will create 
a supportive, collaborative and dynamic environment where students and staff are inspired to learn and 
develop. Our high-performance culture will be underpinned by a distributed leadership model, which 
empowers teams to deliver; and share accountability for outcomes. We will support our workforce to be 
agile, resilient and responsive to opportunities.  
 
The development and implementation of our Talent Management strategy and framework is key to 
achieving this aim.   
 
Action – To maintain our low staff turnover, coupled with a competitive employment market means that 
talent management approaches are essential to our continued organisational development and our 
ability to enhance our service delivery. 
 
Aim 3 Research and Innovation 
Research and innovation will define the tertiary environment and have relevance to and impact upon 
our staff, students and the communities we serve.  
 
Action – Continue to record and monitor research activity to assist in future Research Excellence 
Framework (REF), as the College scored well in the most recent REF exercise, and funding from this 
source increased by 54%.  
 
Aim 4 Student Experience 
We will create a vibrant student experience that is underpinned by creative learning and teaching and 
proactive student support, designed through collaboration between students, staff and the wider 
community. We will ensure that all our students are supported at every stage of their journey to achieve 
their full potential.  
 
Actions - Underpinning strategies will be developed and implemented around themes such as Digital 
Transformation, Access and Inclusion, Quality Assurance and Improvement, and Student Partnership. 
The refreshed UHI Learning and Teaching strategy also dovetails with this strategic aim and will be 
adopted in academic year 2022/23.  
 
Aim 5 Finance and Sustainability 
We will continually review our service delivery to ensure our financial sustainability. We will plan and 
manage our resources to be efficient and effective, prioritising investment to improve our student 
experience and achieve our vision. We will respect and protect our environment, as we work towards 
achieving net zero carbon.  
 
Financial sustainability is a priority aim, which underpins our entire strategy. Following the development 
of our course costing model, our new Curriculum Planning Review approach, together with Monthly 
Data Presentation meetings and KPI matrix, will enable us to monitor the efficiency of our service 
delivery. The Sustainability Working Group is leading the development of an environmental 
sustainability strategy, encompassing every aspect of our business, as we work towards our net zero 
carbon goal. 
 
Actions – the College’s financial position is regularly monitored, and longer-term financial planning is in 
place. There is work on-going with UHI regarding seeking to make the UHI partnership more efficient; 
the College continues to work on reducing its carbon emissions.  
 
Principal Risks and Uncertainty 
The College has robust risk management processes in place to ensure relevant risks are captured, 
assessed and (where possible) mitigated against. The College maintains a register of strategic risks 
which is reported on at each meeting of the Audit Committee as well as being reported to the Board of 
Management.  
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The main risks to Inverness College are: - 
 
• Financial instability of UHI and impact of financial decisions made by UHI – resulting from the 

financial instability of UHI academic partners and Executive Office (EO) due to increased cost base, 
reduced income and/or ineffective business models. Concerns around decisions on top slice, 
leadership payments, shared services, actions from UHI curriculum review and other strands of UHI 
2024 which are still to be progressed. Risk mitigation - close monitoring of funding and allocations, 
to ensure we are able to challenge unsustainable activities, proactive lobbying of stakeholders to 
put forward the case for UHI Inverness students, employers and communities and to continue to 
support and promote the delivery of the curriculum review. 
 

• College does not achieve allocated HE student number targets – resulting from the failure to recruit 
sufficient students due to various factors such as: over ambitious target, poor marketing, curriculum 
gaps, poor NSS result, poor relationship with schools, inability of UHI to react swiftly impacting on 
ability to convert applications to enrolments, and not addressing the changing demographic across 
the region. Other factors include employment and demographic trends and the ineffective UHI EO-
driven curriculum review. Risk mitigation - UHI curriculum review – must be delivered, increased 
resource in UHI Inverness marketing department and development of work-based degrees and 
graduate apprenticeship programmes to reflect the high employment rates across the region. 
 

• College does not achieve allocated FE Credit targets – resulting from failure to recruit sufficient 
students due to various factors such as: reduction in school leaver numbers, curriculum that lacks 
relevance to local economy, curriculum gaps, ineffective marketing and engagement with local 
schools/employers, environmental shift from FE to HE recruitment pattern. Risk mitigation – 
includes enhanced curriculum planning review process, sector development planning process 
provides early indication of employment related trends, to inform curriculum development and 
monitoring and supporting those at risk from early or further withdrawal through INSIGHT and 
Monthly Data Presentations, which include FE & HE Student enrolments against targets for current 
year, along with actual targets for previous years/summary of early and further withdrawals for both 
FE & HE for current year and FE & HE recruitment numbers for the next academic year. 
 

• Financial failure/operating loss. Inability to achieve a balanced budget – resulting from 
uncontrollable increasing pay costs as a result of national bargaining, job evaluation, unfunded pay 
awards impacting on the whole sector, as well as reduced FE and HE funding. Other factors include 
potential clawback on historical FE and HE under recruitment and UHI funding models and 
mechanisms. Risk mitigation - Financial monitoring and control of staff resources through Staff 
Resource Panel (SRP), strengthened following Financial Recovery Plan (FRP) in 2021. Fully costed 
curriculum underpinning curriculum planning review process. Move of (Graduate Apprenticeships) 
GA responsibility from UHI hub to Business Solutions Team. 
 

• The College fails to make fully informed financial management decisions – resulting from poor 
financial monitoring and lack of understanding of funding and finance. Risk mitigation - close 
resource management via SRP, monthly financial monitoring, the Board of Management 
committees are updated within the committee cycle and a fully costed curriculum, used to inform 
the curriculum planning review.   

 
Going Concern  
The net asset position reported in these Financial Statements is due to the adoption of Financial 
Reporting Standard (FRS) 102 (2015/16) which has resulted in the reclassification of Government 
Capital Grants previously disclosed in Reserves, being disclosed under liabilities less than one year 
and greater than one year. The net assets include a Pension Provision for early retirements of 
£1,770,142 and a Pension Asset of £4,890,000 for the College’s share in the Highland Council Local 
Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). It is recognised that the College’s position in the LGPS is a long- 
term asset and this figure can change from year to year depending on actuarial assumption including 
assumptions about inflation and interest rates. 
The College reported an Adjusted Operating Deficit of £390,024 (See table on Page 11). This is a good 
result in an extremely challenging year and the college maintains a good level of cash balances, at £6.8 
million at July 2023. Also see Page 43 for a fuller assessment of going concern. 
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PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS 
 
Student Activity Indicators 
Recruitment for Higher Education (HE) saw a downward year. The College is identifying that more HE 
part time offerings are required and is working with UHI Partners as part of the UHI 2024 strategy to 
review the curriculum offered.  Further Education (FE) activity over exceeded it’s target after failing to 
achieve this for three years in a row.  
 
The College participates fully in addressing opportunities and concerns at a regional level by working 
closely with our UHI academic partners to match resources with demand. As part of the University of 
the Highlands and Islands partnership, the College HE activity is measured in full time equivalents 
(FTEs) rather than credits. 
 
Student Activity Target 

2022/23 
Outturn 
2022/23 

Target 
2021/22 

Outturn 
2021/22 

FE Credits 29,620 30,500 30,677 28,697 
HE UGT FTEs 1,441 1,290 1,556 1,350 

 
A number of mechanisms and actions were newly established or further embedded during 2022/23 to 
support the recovery in student retention and successful outcomes including, for example:  

• Embedding of School level monthly data presentations supporting early interventions. 
• Investment in two Learning & Teaching Enhancement Lead secondments to support the sharing 

of best practice across the organisation. 
• Target setting for retention and successful outcomes at Education Scotland subject level and at 

programme level - More flexible pathways for student success. 
• Credit Flex to allow programmes to be flexible to meet students needs. 
• Further extending our suite of support for students. 

 
Inverness College UHI has a strong focus on the quality of its students’ experience and on quality 
enhancement across its provision and services. This was evidenced by the most recent external review 
of Inverness College in March 2022 and the published report by Education Scotland, which highlighted 
circa 42 aspects of good practice.  This was further evidenced in our Annual Engagement visit by 
Education Scotland during February 2023, where they found major strengths in the college’s work in 
relation to Recruitment, Retention, Attainment and Progression.   
The pandemic negatively impacted our ability to encourage students to complete the various surveys 
used to measure student satisfaction. During 2022/23 we had a real focus on student engagement and 
participation as part of our Quality Enhancement Process and this dedicated focus led to significant 
improvements in our response rates. 
 
Participation in the Early Student Experience Survey (ESES) and the Student Satisfaction and 
Engagement Survey (SSES) indicates a full recovery has been made with 55% and 53% response 
rates across the two key surveys, up by 20% respectively on 2021/22. These represent the highest 
participation rates of the last 5 years in these surveys. By comparison, the NSS response rate is 
dropping and was 7% down on 2021/22 out turn and the lowest it has been across the 5-year period. 
This needs to be an area of focus in 2023/24 in the lead up to the launch of the NSS. 
 
The 5-year trend shows that student satisfaction began to recover in 2021/22 and this improvement has 
continued into 2022/23. Satisfaction in the ESES and the SSES was up by 3% and 4% respectively, 
taking our current satisfaction in the end of year SSES to 93.10% Student satisfaction in the NSS 
remained fairly static in 2022/23 at 81%, up 1% on last year. UHI as a partnership had 81% satisfaction 
and did well against competitor universities, being nationally ranked as 6th in Scotland. 
 
Current and Future Developments  
Inverness College UHI is one of the largest academic partners in the University of the Highlands and 
Islands (UHI). The College’s HE provision has reduced in line with wider sector trends, following a 
period of growth. However, FE recruitment demand increased in 2022/23. Modern Apprenticeships 
have grown significantly year-on-year for the past 5 years, providing Skills Development Scotland 
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funding. We will build upon this success by growing our Graduate Apprenticeship offer to provide more 
work-based progression options for Higher Education. The Flexible Workforce Development Fund 
continued to be successful, but the future of this funding stream is uncertain.  
 
Our Quality Enhancement Process for 2023/24 identifies the following five themes to support our 
continuous improvement:  

• Improvement in successful outcomes.  
• Sharing emerging practice in learning and teaching to support retention and successful outcomes.  
• Improvement in the consistent use of learning technologies to support learning & teaching.  
• Improvement in student voice representation & working with students in partnership.  
• Develop a common approach to skills delivery and visibility across curriculum. 
 

We are engaging with the Scottish Government’s ‘No One Left Behind’ initiatives, working closely with 
our Local Employability Partnership, the Highland Council and partners across the region. The College 
also works closely with circa 20 of the Highland Council’s 29 secondary schools to deliver a rich offer 
of programmes for school pupils in the Senior Phase, from SCQF level 1-7 including vocational 
pathways, Foundation Apprenticeships, Skills for Work, National Progression Awards, N5s and Highers, 
and Degree modules. This curriculum has developed into a blended model, for which we have won a 
national award for, alongside with our partner colleges of West and North Highland – the CDN Digital 
Learning Award – and have been commended in the TES FE Award for Outstanding Use of Technology 
in Delivering Remote Teaching and Learning. 
 
The post-Covid employment market is booming across a wide range of sectors and with new sectors 
emerging, our challenge is to adapt. Foreign Direct Investment associated with the Cromarty Green 
Free Port, coupled with the expansion of local businesses and skills required to support net zero carbon 
targets have increased demand for delivery across a wide range of STEAM related subjects. The 
buoyant local employment market, which in some cases provides relatively high wages for low skilled 
employment, also represents a challenge to our student retention with young people feeling the pull to 
employment, particularly as the cost-of-living increases 
 
Research  
The following summarises current activity against performance indicators of REF, PGRs, and KTPs. 
Strategically the College aims to further enhance our research excellence capacity to inform and 
develop the ‘currency’ of the curriculum. 
 
1. Research Excellence Framework 
The outcome of the 2021 Research Excellence Framework review was announced in May 2022. UHI 
as a whole achieved an exceptionally good outcome across nearly all Units of Assessment submitted. 
The Research Excellence Grant allocation for each of the UHI Academic Partners was finalised in July 
2022, with Inverness receiving £143,421 for 2022/23.  We are working toward the next REF return 
which will be in 2028/29 
 
2. Number of Postgraduate Research Students  
The total number of Postgraduate Research Students in 2022/23 was 15, which is broadly in line with 
our target. Six students have successfully completed their research degrees in 2021/22. 
 
3. Number of Knowledge Transfer Partnerships 
Two Knowledge Transfer Partnerships are being delivered and we are liaising with businesses across 
a range of sectors to develop this area. 
   
4. Research Centres 
The work of the Institute to the Institute for Biodiversity and Freshwater Conservation is thriving under 
the leadership of Dr Bernd Haenfling, as is the Centre for Living Sustainability led by Professor Vicky 
Johnson.   Both centres are subsidised by HE funding, in recognition of the value they bring to our 
tertiary curriculum. 
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Financial Performance 
 
Non-cash Allocation 
This table shows the College’s underlying operating position for the year after adjusting for non-cash 
items. 
 

 
 

2022/23 
£’000 

2021/22 
£’000 

Notes 

Deficit before other gains and losses 
(FE/HE SORP basis) for academic year 

(1,796) (1,474) SEE SOCIE 

Add:  
 Depreciation budget for government funded 

assets (net of deferred capital grant) for 
academic year 

 Impairment 

 
59 
 
 

1,060 

 
591 

 
 

0 

 
SEE NOTE 11 

 
 

SEE NOTE 13 
Operating (Deficit)/Surplus on Central 
Government accounting basis for the academic 
year 
 

(677) (883)  

 
Following reclassification, incorporated colleges received a non-cash budget to cover depreciation, but 
this additional budget is not recognised under the FE/HE SORP accounting rules.  Colleges may show 
a deficit equivalent to net depreciation as a result of having to meet Government accounting rules and 
the requirement to spend the entire cash allocation. 
 
Under the FE/HE SORP, the College recorded a deficit of £1,796,381 (2021/22 – deficit £1,473,929) 
for the year ended 31 July 2023.  After adjusting for the non-cash allocation provided under government 
rules, the College shows an “adjusted” deficit of £390,024 (2021/22 - surplus of £427,759) on a Central 
Government accounting basis.   
 
The deficit is attributable to other factors reflected in the adjusted operating table and also the impact 
of COVID-19 as explained in the performance report on pages 4 to 12. 
 
Adjusted Operating Position (AOP) Note 
 
SFC approval of the Adjusted Operating Position was given on 25 January 2024. 
 
 
 

2022/23 
£’000 

2021/22 
£’000 

Surplus/(deficit) before other gains and losses (1,796) (1,474) 
Add back: 

 Depreciation (net of deferred capital grant release) on 
both government funded and privately funded assets 
including NPD assets* (Note 11) 

 Impairment (Note 13) 
 Pension adjustment – Net service cost (Note 6) 
 Pension adjustment - Net interest cost (Note 9) 
 Pension adjustment - Early retirement Provision (Note 

17) 
 
 
 
 

 
         

 59 
 

1,060    
742          
84 

279 
 
 
 
 

 
         

 591 
 

0    
  2,173         

277 
(318) 
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Deduct: 
 

 Non-Government capital grants (e.g. ALF capital grant)  
 NPD income applied to reduce NPD balance sheet debt  

 
          (818) 

 
            (821) 

Adjusted operating (deficit) surplus (390) 428 
 
 
Financial results  
The Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 31 July 2023 shows a deficit of 
£1,796,381, (2021/22 £1,473,929 deficit). There were adjustments for the College’s share in Highland 
Council’s Pension Scheme amounting to £826,000. There was a favourable actuarial movement of 
£7,754,000 in this same scheme (2021/22 – actuarial valuation increase of £16,696,000). Total income 
increased to £30.8 million (2021/22 £29 million) and expenditure has increased to £32.6 million 
(2021/22 £30.4 million).  
 
Creditor Payment Policy 
The College seeks to comply with the CBI Prompt Payment Code and aims to pay its suppliers within 
30 days of receipt of invoice unless the invoice is contested. The College’s average creditor payment 
period was 26 days over the 12 month period to July 2023 compared with the figure of 33 days in the 
12 months to July 2022.  
 
Spend of Cash Budget for Priorities 
Following their reclassification as central government bodies from 1 April 2014, colleges are also 
required to comply with Central Government budgeting rules. In addressing the impact of these 
budgeting rules, Scottish Government and SFC committed to providing the cash budget previously 
earmarked for depreciation for use on specified priorities. 
 
Colleges have now each been given a fixed cash budget for priorities which must be spent on agreed 
government priorities as outlined in the table below.  Spend of the College’s cash budget for priorities, 
and impact on the operating position for the academic year, is detailed below. 
 
Table of cash budget for priorities spend 
 

  

Revenue Priorities 
 

2022/23 
(£’000) 

2021/22 
(£’000) 

Estates Costs 
 

0 0 

Total impact on operating position 
 

0 0 

Capital Priorities 
 

  

Loan repayments (including PFI, NPD repayments) 
 

818 821 

Total Capital 
 

818 821 

Total cash budget for priorities spend 
 

818 821 

 
 
 
Sustainability Strategy 
The Environmental Sustainability Strategy for Inverness College was approved by the Board in 
December 2022. The strategy covers four core areas to support our desire to reduce impact on the 
environment and achieve net zero carbon emissions by 2040: 

• Leadership and Governance,  
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• Sustainable Procurement,  
• Estates and Campus Operations, 
• Curriculum: Teaching and Learning. 
 

Over the course of the year, we have: 
 
• Recruited a new Health, Safety & Sustainability Manager to lead our sustainability strategy. 
• Established a Sustainability Working Group that will help deliver the Sustainability Strategy's 

aims. 
• Delivered two workshops at the annual staff conference to raise awareness of the strategy and 

to encourage staff involvement in developing and rolling it out. 
• Worked with Advanced Procurement for Universities and Colleges (APUC) to further develop 

our sustainable procurement approach and engage with suppliers to ensure they are making 
environmental improvements. Suppliers are encouraged to undertake sustainability ratings with 
EcoVadis. 

• Worked with our Facilities Management company to trial specific measures across our buildings 
that increase energy efficiency whilst maintaining comfort and operational performance as part 
of the overall Carbon Management Plan. 

• Continued to support the Inverness Campus Owners Association (ICOA) to develop and 
implement a Sustainable Travel Plan to maximise opportunities for staff, students and all 
campus users to access sustainable travel options. 

 
The College reports on its performance in line with the requirements of the Climate Change (Scotland) 
Act 2009. 
 
 
Disclosure of Information to Auditors 
The Board members who held office at the date of approval of this report confirm that, so far as they 
are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the College’s Auditors are unaware; and each 
Board member has taken all the steps that he or she ought to have taken to be aware of any relevant 
audit information and to establish that the College’s Auditors are aware of that information.  

 
Approved by order of the members of the Board on 20th September 2024 and signed on its behalf by: 

 
 

 
Professor Christopher O’Neil       Dee Bird 
Principal and Chief Executive Officer     Interim Chair of Board 

                 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Inverness College UHI Financial Statements for the year ended 31st July 2023

12

DocuSign Envelope ID: 19568C61-E963-4B70-BAAE-0BFB53CDBB96



Accountability Report  
Section One: Statement of Corporate Governance 
 
DIRECTORS’ REPORT  
Members of the Board of Management 
The UHI Inverness College Board of Management is populated by the College Principal, non-executive 
Board Members, two staff members and two student representatives taken from the Highlands and 
Islands Student Association (HISA).  
 
The Members, who served on the Board of Management during the year 2022/23, and up to the date 
of the accounts being signed on 20th September 2024 were as follows: 
 

Name Designated Role Membership Start Date End Date 

Innis Montgomery Chair of Human 
Resources 
Committee 

 
Senior Independent 

Member 

 Board of Management 
 Audit Committee 
 Human Resources 

Committee 
 Chairs Committee 
 PR&R Committee 
 S&N Committee 

12 April 2017  

Chris O’Neil Principal  Board of Management 
 Human Resources 

Committee 
 Finance and General 

Purposes Committee 
 Learning, Teaching and 

Research (ex officio 
member) 

 Estates Legacy Project 
Board  

 Audit Committee 

01 September 
2017 

 

Kelly MacKenzie Professional 
Services 

Representative 

 Board of Management 
 Finance and General 

Purposes Committee 
 Learning, Teaching and 

Research Committee 

01 August 2019 31 May 2023 

Samantha Cribb Independent 
Member 

 Audit Committee 
 Board of Management  
 Learning, Teaching and 

Research Committee 

01 December 
2019 

28 October 2022 

Sally Blyth Independent 
Member 

 Audit Committee 
 Board of Management  
 HR Committee 

01 December 
2019 

 

Gillian Galloway Independent 
Member 

 Board of Management 
 Audit Committee 

01 December 
2019 
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 Human Resources 
Committee 

Donald MacKenzie Chair of Finance 
and General 

Purposes 
Committee 

 Board of Management  
 Finance and General 

Purposes Committee 
 Estates Legacy Project 

Board 
 Chairs Committee 
 PR&R Committee 
 S&N Committee 

 
18 June 2020 

 

Amy Goodbrand Co-opted Member 
of the Audit 
Committee  

 Audit Committee 
 Board of Management  

01 January 2021  

Tina Stones Chair of Audit 
Committee 

 Board of Management 
 Audit Committee 
 HR Committee 
 Chairs Committee 
 PR&R Committee 
 S&N Committee 

01 February 2021 
 
 
 
 
 
 

September 2022 

05 September 
2023 

Mark Sheridan Chair of Board of 
Management 

 Board of Management 
 Chairs Committee 
 Estates Legacy Project 

Board 
 Performance Review 

and Remuneration 
Board 

 S&N Committee 

01 July 2021 08 July 2024 

Russell Edwards Independent 
Member 

 Board of Management 
 Finance and General 

Purposes Committee 
 Learning, Teaching and 

Research Committee 

01 February 2021  

Arvinder Kainth Independent 
Member 

 Board of Management 
 Learning, Teaching and 

Research Committee 

01 February 2021  

James Millar Independent 
Member 

 Board of Management 
 Audit Committee  
 Learning, Teaching and 

Research Committee 

10 February 2022 07 July 2024 

Stephen Sheridan Independent 
Member 

 Board of Management 10 February 2022 28 June 2024 
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 Finance and General 
Purposes Committee 

 Learning, Teaching and 
Research Committee 

Matthew Millward Academic 
Representative 

 Board of Management 
 Learning, Teaching and 

Research Committee 

17 March 2022   

Rojan Kumar 
Subramani 

Independent 
Member 

 Board of Management 
 Finance and General 

Purposes Committee 

31 March 2022  

Dee Bird Interim Chair of the 
Board of 

Management 
Vice Chair of the 

Board of 
Management 

Chair of Learning, 
Teaching and 

Research 
Committee 

 Board of Management 
 Learning, Teaching and 

Research Committee 
 Chairs Committee 
 S&N Committee 
 PR&R Committee 

 
08 July 2024 

 
26 March 2024 

 
 

31 March 2022 
 
 

 

Michael Beveridge Co-opted Member 
of the Audit 
Committee 

 Audit Committee 
 Board of Management 

31 March 2022  06 August 2024 

Jane Rhodes Co-opted Member 
of the HR 

Committee 

 HR Committee 
 Board of Management  

10 February 2022  16 September 
2022 

William Campbell Student 
Representative 

 LT&R Committee 
 Board of Management  
 Estates Legacy Project 

Board 

01 August 2022  31 July 2023  

Pauline Tuthill Professional 
Services 

Representative 

 F&GP Committee 
 Board of Management  

27 June 2023   

Wendy Grindle Non-Executive 
Member 

 Audit Committee 
 LT&R Committee 
 Board of Management  

27 June 2023  

Jane Davidson Co-opted Member 
of the F&GP 
Committee 

 F&GP Committee 
 Board of Management  

27 June 2023  

Janette Campbell Independent 
Member  

Chair of Audit 
Committee 

 Audit Committee 
 Board of Management  

27 June 2023 
 

19 December 
2023 

 

Elizabeth Keegan Student 
Representative 

 LT&R Committee 
 Board of Management  

01 August 2023  

Holly Pearce Student 
Representative 

 LT&R Committee 
 Board of Management  

01 August 2023  

 
 
A link to our Board of Management Register of Interests can be found here: Register of 
Interests (uhi.ac.uk) 
A summary of the Board members, and meetings attended during 2022/23 is shown below: 
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Member BoM HR Audit F&GP Estates 

Legacy 
Project 
Board 

Chairs LT&R S&N PR&R 

Innis 
Montgomery 

5/6 4/4 1/4   4/4  1/2 3/3 

Chris O’Neil 6/6 3/4 4/4 3/4  1/1  3/4 3/4   
Kelly 

MacKenzie 
5/6   3/4   3/4   

Sally Blyth 4/6 3/4 2/4       
Gillian 

Galloway 
4/6 3/4 1/4       

Donald 
MacKenzie 

6/6 2/4  4/4 1/1 3/4  1/2 3/3 

Tina Stones  3/6 1/4 3/4   3/4  2/2 1/3 
Mark 

Sheridan 
6/6    1/1 4/4  2/2 2/3 

Russell 
Edwards 

5/6   3/4   3/4   

Arvinder 
Kainth 

6/6      3/4   

Amy 
Goodbrand 

5/6  2/4       

James Millar 6/6  4/4    2/4   
Dee Bird 6/6     4/4 4/4 2/2 2/3 
Stephen 
Sheridan 

3/6   2/4   4/4   

Rojan Kumar 
Subramani 

5/6   3/4      

Michael 
Beveridge 

4/6  3/4       

Matthew 
Millward 

6/6      1/4   

William 
Campbell 

6/6      3/4   

 
Each of our Committees have allocated to them lead officers from the Executive Management Team 
(see below). All of the Executive Management Team are invited to attend Board of Management 
Meetings.   
 

• Vice Principal – Curriculum, Operations and External Relations: Lead for the Finance and 
General Purposes Committee and HR Committee. 

• Vice Principal – Curriculum, Student Experience and Quality: Lead for the HR Committee, 
Learning, Teaching and Research Committee and Audit Committee. 

 
The Governance Officer for the Academic year 22/23 was Lisa Ross. The new Governance Officer from 
September 2023 is Ludka Orlowska-Kowal. The Governance Officer maintains a register of financial 
and personal interests of the Board members. The Register is available for inspection at:  
 
UHI Inverness  
1 Inverness Campus 
INVERNESS IV2 5NA 
or on the College Website - www.inverness.uhi.ac.uk/about-us/board-of-management 
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STATEMENT OF BOARD OF MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITIES  
 
In accordance with the provisions of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992 (the Act) 
the Board of Management is responsible for the administration and management of the College’s 
affairs, including ensuring an effective system of financial control, and is required to present audited 
financial statements for each financial year. 
 
The Board of Management is responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with 
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the College and to enable it to ensure that the 
financial statements are prepared in accordance with the Act, the Statement of Recommended Practice 
on ‘Accounting in Further and Higher Education Institutions’ and other relevant accounting standards.  
 
In addition, within the terms of the Financial Memorandum between the University of the Highlands and 
Islands (UHI) as the Regional Strategic Body, and the Board of Management, the Board is required to 
prepare financial statements for each reporting period that give a true and fair view of the College’s 
state of affairs and of the surplus or deficit and cash flows for that period. 
 
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the Accounts Direction issued by the Scottish 
Funding Council, which brings together the provisions of the Financial Memorandum with other formal 
disclosures that the Scottish Funding Council require the Board of Management to make in the financial 
statements and related notes. 
 
In causing the financial statements to be prepared, the Board of Management has ensured that: 
 
• suitable accounting policies are selected and applied consistently; 
• judgement and estimates are made that are reasonable and prudent; 
• applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures 

disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and 
• Financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to 

presume that the College will continue in operation. 
 

The Board of Management has taken reasonable steps to: 
 
• ensure that funds from the Scottish Funding Council (SFC) via the Regional Strategic Body (UHI) 

are used only for the purposes that they have been given and in accordance with the Financial 
Memorandum and any other conditions that the Regional Strategic Body may from time to time 
prescribe; 

• ensure that there are appropriate financial and management controls in place to safeguard public 
funds and funds from other sources; 

• safeguard the assets of the College and prevent and detect fraud; and 
• Secure the economical, efficient, and effective management of the College’s resources and 

expenditure. 
 

The key elements of the College’s system of internal financial control, that is designed to discharge the 
responsibilities set out above, include the following: 

 
• clear definitions of responsibilities of, and the authority delegated to, College management; 
• a comprehensive planning process supplemented by detailed annual income, expenditure, and 

capital budgets; 
• regular reviews of key performance indicators and business risks and monthly financial results 

involving variance reporting and updates of forecast outturns; 
• clearly defined and formalised requirements for approval and control of expenditure, with 

investment decisions involving capital or revenue expenditure being subject to review according 
to approval levels set by the Board of Management; 
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• comprehensive Financial Regulations, detailing financial controls and procedures approved by 
the Finance Committee; and 

• A professional internal audit service whose annual programme is established by the Audit 
Committee has reported that reasonable and effective risk management, control and governance 
is in place.  This has been endorsed by the Board of Management with a report on internal audit 
activity within the College and an opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the College’s 
system of internal control. 
 

Any system of internal financial control can, however, only provide reasonable, but not absolute, 
assurance against material misstatement or loss. 
 
GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 
Statement of Compliance with the 2016 Code of Good Governance for 
Scottish Colleges 
UHI Inverness complies with all principles of the 2016 Code of Good Governance for Scottish Colleges 
and has complied throughout the year ended 31 July 2023. The Code of Good Governance for 
Scotland’s Colleges “the Code” has been developed and is owned by the College Sector. The Code 
establishes the standards of good governance for the Board and provides the essential foundations for 
compliance within the legislation framework. Part of the code requires that UHI Inverness has in place 
a robust self-evaluation process which comprises of an annual internal review and an externally 
facilitated effectiveness review every 3 years.   
 
UHI Inverness carries out the annual review of the Code by asking Board Members to express a level 
of agreement with a series of statements representing good governance and practice. The information 
provided by Board Members informs our self-evaluation report and indicates areas of strength and 
highlights where further development for the Board is required. The review of the Code provides Board 
Members the opportunity to express their views with regards to how we comply with the code in respect 
of Leadership and Strategy, Quality of Student Experience, Accountability, Effectiveness and 
Relationships and Collaboration. This ensures that our evaluation report and any development actions 
are aligned to the requirements of the code.   
 
In order to ensure that we are compliant with the Code our Annual Review is included within the Board’s 
yearly calendar of submissions and any recommendations which come out of this review are 
incorporated into the ongoing Board of Management Action Plan. 
 
The Audit Committee have met with Auditors without the Executive Team present as part of the 
scheduled cycle of Board of Management meetings. 
 
During autumn 2020 Professor Ron Hill, on behalf of Colleges Development Network (CDN) was 
commissioned to undertake an ‘Externally Facilitated Board Effectiveness Review’ of Inverness 
College. The final report dated 21 January 2021 and the development plan which the Board of 
Management has drawn up from this review is available on the College’s website. The development 
plan is reviewed and updated every 6 months.    
 
Prior to the start of the academic year 2021/22 a review of each of our Committees took place. As part 
of this each Committee’s Terms of Reference were reviewed and updated to ensure that there was no 
duplication and that the aims and objectives of each Committee was clear. The language within each 
Committee’s Terms of Reference were updated to support, challenge and enhance the work of the 
College and to ensure a pro-active approach is taken by Board Members. They will next be reviewed 
in March 2024.  The review of the Committees has also allowed for the creation of creative space within 
each meeting.   
 
The College is committed to exhibiting best practice in all aspects of corporate governance. This 
summary describes the manner in which the College has applied the main principles set out in the Code 
of Good Governance for Scotland’s Colleges, the purpose being to help the reader of the financial 
statements understand how the principles have been applied.  
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Introduction 
The Board has adapted to a new way of working following the Covid-19 pandemic.  All Committee 
meetings remain fully digital and are conducted via Microsoft Teams.  Board Meetings are hybrid with 
members being encouraged to attend in person but with the option to dial in if needed.  The induction 
process for new members remains online.  The Board was able to come together for their Board Away 
Day in February 2023.   
 
The Board undertook a successful recruitment campaign in Spring 2023 and were able to recruit a non-
executive member along with two co-opted members.   
 
The Board has welcomed the value of the confidential closed sessions which has provided them with 
the space to discuss and identify areas of good practice and areas for development.   
 
The focus of the Board this year has been in respect of finances with the reduction of funding, the 
impact of the cost-of-living crisis on both our students and staff, the development of our KPI Matrix, the 
development of the UHI 2024 revitalisation programme, the oversight of our Shared Finance Service 
and the work of the Short Life Working Group. The Board continues to be updated by management in 
respect of our efforts to manage the College with the Board remaining cognisant of the mitigating and 
ongoing actions being taken in respect of our delivery effectiveness.   
 
 
BOARD OF MANAGEMENT 
The College’s Board of Management meets four times per year and has a number of committees: 

• Audit Committee 
• Finance & General Purposes Committee  
• Performance Review and Remuneration Committee 
• Learning, Teaching and Research Committee 
• Human Resources Committee 
• Search and Nominations Committee 
• Estates Legacy Project Board 

 
In addition, the Board of Management held development planning days and training events during the 
course of the year for the purposes of training, self-evaluation and development. The role of the Board 
of Management is the strategic overview of the College.  
 
The core College Committees (Audit; Finance and General Purposes; Learning, Teaching and 
Research; and Human Resources) meet four times a year in line with the Board of Management cycle, 
with the Audit Committee also meeting with the College’s external and internal auditors as appropriate.  
 
The College’s Internal Auditors monitor the systems of internal control, risk management controls and 
governance processes in accordance with an agreed plan of input and report their findings to both the 
Executive Management Team and the Audit Committee. The College Internal Auditors reported as 
follows for 2022/23:  
 
‘In our view, based on the reviews undertaken during the period, and in the context of materiality: 

• In all the five assurance audits performed, the risk management activities and controls in the 
areas which we examined were found to be suitably designed to achieve the specific risk 
management, control and governance arrangements. Based on our verification reviews and 
sample testing, the risk management, control, value for money and governance arrangements 
in these five areas were operating with sufficient effectiveness to provide reasonable, but not 
absolute assurance that the related risk management, control and governance objectives were 
achieved for the period under review. 

 
The Executive Management Team is responsible for the implementation of agreed audit 
recommendations and Internal Auditors undertake periodic follow-up reviews to ensure that such 
recommendations have been implemented. The Committee considers detailed reports together with 
recommendations for the improvement of the College’s systems of internal control and management’s 
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responses and implementation plans. It also receives and considers reports from the Scottish Funding 
Council as they affect the College’s business and monitors adherence to the regulatory requirements.  
 
Whilst members of the Executive Management Team may attend meetings of the Audit Committee as 
necessary, they are not members of the Committee and at least once a year the Committee meets the 
External Auditors on their own for independent discussions. 
 
TRANSPARENCY ARRANGEMENTS 
The Board of Management conducts its business through a number of committees. Each committee 
has formally constituted Terms of Reference.  Minutes of all Board of Management meetings (except 
the confidential Estates Legacy Project Board) are available from the Governance Officer at the 
following address or on the College’s website: 

 
Inverness College  

1 Inverness Campus 
Inverness 
IV2 5NA 

 
The Governance Officer maintains a register of financial, personal interests and directorships of the 
members of the Board of Management.  The register is available for inspection at the above address 
or on the College’s website. 
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ROLE OF COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD OF MANAGEMENT 
 
Audit Committee 
The Audit Committee has overall strategic responsibility for developing, monitoring and enhancing the 
following aspects of the College’s operations and to advise the Board appropriately on:  
 

• The comprehensiveness, reliability and integrity of assurance of the governance and 
management of the College. 

• The comprehensiveness, reliability and integrity of assurance of the risk management and 
business continuity of the College. 

• The comprehensiveness, reliability and integrity of the College’s financial management and 
other internal control and management systems. 

• The effectiveness of arrangements for safeguarding the assets of the College and the public 
funds at its disposal. 

• The economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the College’s activities, including value for money. 
• The effectiveness of the corporate governance and conduct of the College operations.   
• All aspects of the provision of an effective Internal audit service. 
• All aspects of the provision of an effective External audit service. 
• Public Interest Disclosure (Whistleblowing) arrangements.   

 
Specifically, the Audit Committee shall: 
 

• Monitor, develop, enhance and review the contents of the risk register maintained by the 
College. 

• Receive, consider and discuss the reports submitted by the College’s Internal Auditors and 
progress reports from College Management on the Internal Audit recommendations. 

• Jointly with the Board’s Finance and General Purposes Committee support, challenge and 
enhance the development and implementation of the annual report of the College’s external 
auditors and the associated College financial statements on which that report is based.   

• Support, challenge and enhance the development of an annual report for the Board of 
Management which once approved will be shared with the Head of Internal Audit at University 
of the Highlands and Islands. 

• Sit privately without any non-members present for all or part of the meeting if it so decides. The 
Committee will meet privately with the internal and external auditors at least annually. 

• The Audit Committee shall conduct its business in accordance with the requirements of any 
guidance and/or codes of practice issued from time to time by the SFC and/or any other relevant 
statutory or regulatory authority as directed by the Board of Management. 

• The Audit Committee will observe that the University of the Highlands and Islands are provided 
with appropriate updates and access to all papers and business to ensure that they are 
appraised of all aspects being monitored by the Committee.   

 
 
Human Resources Committee 
The HR Committee has overall strategic responsibility for developing, monitoring and enhancing the 
direction and oversight of all personnel matters relating to the function of the Board of Management as 
employer of the College’s staff.  
 
The Committee shall support, scrutinise and enhance the development and auditing of all human 
resource strategies and work streams and this shall include:  
 

• The development and implementation of the Organisational and Professional Development 
Strategy, Annual Action Plan and the monitoring of actual performance against KPIs. 

• The development and implementation of human resources measures surrounding turnover, 
absence, diversity and teaching qualifications. 

• Monitor and observe that the College has appropriate succession plans in place for senior 
management, teaching and support staff. 

• Receive, consider and discuss all Human Resources policies within the College. 
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• Support, scrutinise and enhance the provision of occupational health support, the provision of 
legal services and consideration of legal guidance provided to us, the provision of computerised 
human resources systems and a Job Evaluation system. 

• Monitor, develop and enhance progress with regards Equality, Diversity and Inclusion through 
our Equality Impact Assessments, our Equality Outcomes and our Mainstreaming Report. 

• Monitor, develop, enhance and observe that the College provides appropriate staff training and 
development. 

• Develop, enhance and observe that the College has in place an effective Performance 
Management Framework which is received, considered and discussed through regular 
statistical reports to the Committee. 

• Support, scrutinise, enhance and observe that appropriate arrangements are in place for 
effective dialogue with trade unions. 

• Support, scrutinise, enhance and observe that pay and conditions of employment are properly 
determined and that pension arrangements are monitored and observed. 

• Support, scrutinise and observe that the College is operating within all legal requirements 
relating to employment law and other legislation affecting employment. 

• Support, scrutinise and enhance the development and implementation of appropriate 
arrangements to provide the assurance of the effective and respectful working relations across 
the EMT and the wider staff body.   

 
Learning, Teaching and Research Committee 
The Learning, Teaching and Research Committee has overall strategic responsibility for developing, 
monitoring and enhancing the direction and performance of learning, teaching and research at the 
College, as part of delivering excellence in the overall student experience, research and impact.   
 
 The Learning, Teaching and Research Committee shall: 

• Support, challenge and enhance the development and implementation of the various strategies 
aligned to the Committee and monitor their performance against targets. 

• Observe and recognise trends in education and research and recommend specific areas of 
focus for the College. 

• Engage with the progress of the annual HISA Partnership Agreement. 
• Monitor data relating to the student experience and performance at the College. 
• Ensure that the College continues to maintain and improve the quality of its provision and 

supports lecturers in delivering excellent learning and teaching in line with the GTCS 
Professional Standards for Lecturers in Scotland’s Colleges.   

• Monitor, develop and enhance the College’s preparedness for the ongoing, external scrutiny of 
its provision.   

• Monitor, develop and enhance the Curriculum to ensure that the College meets the needs of 
students, stakeholders and the local community and is responsive to opportunities.   

• Receive, consider and discuss information on research activity in the College including 
Research Excellence Framework (REF) funding, curriculum support, student journey, 
professional development for staff and stakeholder engagement.   

• Receive regular reports from the Students Association and provide support to the College in 
order to respond to student concerns. 

• Observe, recognise and encourage sharing from both staff and students of emerging good 
practice across various aspects of provision at the College. 

 
Finance and General Purposes Committee 
The Finance and General Purposes Committee has overall responsibility (within the Financial 
Memorandum between the College and the Regional Strategic Body) for developing, monitoring and 
enhancing the direction and oversight of the College’s financial affairs. The Committee has strategic 
responsibility for developing, monitoring and enhancing the College’s existing buildings and estates. It 
shall:  
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• Monitor, develop and enhance the financial position of the College and report to the Board on 
any necessary action.  

• Receive, consider and discuss information on non-core grant supported activity including 
international student and business development activities. 

• Support, monitor, challenge and observe the review of the College Financial Regulations. 
• Support, challenge and enhance the development and implementation of the College’s finance 

and estates strategies and associated plans and submit appropriate reports and 
recommendations to the Board.   

• Support, challenge and enhance the development and review of the effectiveness of financial 
management and controls within the College. 

• Receive, consider, discuss and approve the annual revenue and capital budgets and final 
accounts for recommendation to the Board. 

• Support, challenge and enhance the development of recommendations to the Board regarding 
the level of tuition fees and other charges. 

• Monitor, support, challenge and observe student recruitment and any actions identified. 
• Approve the write-off of bad debts in accordance with both the limits set in the Scheme of 

Delegation and the authority which the Committee has delegated to the EMT in respect of bad 
debts.  

• Support, challenge and enhance the development and implementation of the overall risk 
management strategy of the College. 

• Monitor and observe compliance with relevant College policies and financial statutory and 
regulatory requirements. 

• Consider and report on Shared Services in so far as they relate to the provision of such services 
under the remit of this Committee. 

• Consider and report on issues of procurement giving consideration to value for money. 
• Consider and recommend to the Board on all matters relating to the operation of the Arms-

Length Foundation. 
• Ensure that the College’s existing buildings and estates are fit for purpose and are maintained 

to an appropriate standard, meeting all relevant regulatory requirements including the effective 
provision of Health and Safety arrangements to meet all legislative requirements. 

• Consider and report on any other financial matters which the Board may delegate or refer from 
time to time. 

• Data Protection arrangements. 
 
Responsibilities – New Campus Site   

• Support and enhance the development and implementation of the Estates Strategy as it relates 
to the campus. 

• Support and enhance the development and implementation of any necessary changes and make 
recommendations to the Board of Management.  

 
Chairs’ Committee 
The Chairs’ Committee will consider the membership of the Board’s Standing Committees and the 
overall effectiveness of the Board’s Committee Structure and develop and recommend to the Board 
any amendments or additions considered appropriate. 
 
The Committee will support and enhance the development and implementation of:  

• Effective self-evaluation of the Board, its members, its Standing Committees and its Chairs. 
• The annual Board Development Day Programme. 
• The Board’s training and development programme. 
• The Board’s stakeholder engagement.  

 
The Committee will at the special request of the Board, receive and consider matters of special interest 
which are not within the remit of another Standing Committee. 
 
The Committee will support, scrutinise and enhance the functions of the Board in any cases of urgency 
of which the Chair of the Board, the Vice Chair or the Chair of a Standing Committee or the Senior 
Independent Member shall be the judge and where it is not practicable to convene a meeting of the 
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Board of Management. 
 
Search and Nomination Committee 
The Search and Nomination committee shall: 

• Consider the skills matrix of current Board Members to determine the skills and experience 
required of prospective members. 

• Agree which UHI Inverness non-executive members should be on the Selection Panel. 
• Ask UHI Executive Office to identify members of the University Court and confirm the 

recommendation by the committee of an independent person to join the Selection Panel. 
• In consultation with UHI Executive Office: 

a. Agree a timetable for the recruitment and selection process. 
b. Agree the various forms of advertising to be used to ensure the college meets the College 
Sector Board Appointments: 2014 Ministerial Guidance and the requirements of the Public 
Sector Equality Duty. 
c. Agree the key information to be included in the advertising material. 

 
Performance Review and Remuneration Committee (PR&R) 
The PR&R Committee shall consider, support, scrutinise and implement the remuneration package and 
conditions of service and any changes thereof, of the College Principal and the Executive Management 
Team (EMT) as is considered appropriate taking into account that the Principal and the EMT should be 
fairly rewarded for their individual performance and contribution to the College’s overall performance 
and observing, recognising and considering the following:  
 

• In terms of EMT remuneration, where the College stands in relation to other comparable 
institutions in the sector ensuring consideration is given to organisations of a similar size and 
the local market. 

• The Scottish Government’s approach to remuneration in the public sector. 
• The relationship between the remuneration of the EMT and that of other employees of the 

College. 
• The benefits granted to the EMT. 
• The adequacy of pension arrangements and recognise the cost implication of pension 

arrangements including the pension effect of remuneration. 
 
The Committee shall support, scrutinise and enhance the development and implementation of the 
annual appraisal of the Principal and Chief Executive by the Chair of the Board and consider and 
observe the Principal and Chief Executive’s continuing professional development. 
 
The Committee shall consider, support and enhance other such matters relating to the Board of 
Management which the Chair shall from time to time determine with consideration given to severance 
payments. 
 
The Committee shall support, scrutinise and endorse any proposals for severance payments to EMT 
and any exceptional settlements which will require to be formally notified to the Board of Management.  
 
Estates Legacy Project Board 
The Estates Legacy Project Board will monitor progress on the sale of the Longman Disposal on behalf 
of the Board of Management and make decisions within the Project Board’s delegated authority.  
 
Responsibilities – Longman Site  

• Support and enhance the development and implementation of the sale of the Longman Site on 
behalf of the Board of Management. 

• Maintaining visible and sustained strategic commitment to the delivery of the sale of the site. 
• Receive, consider and discuss reports from the Project Manager. 
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• Support and enhance the development and implementation of communication and consultation 
strategies for the Project. 

• Monitor, discuss and observe the holding cost report. 
• Support and enhance the development and implementation of a post-implementation review 

and report this to the Board of Management.   
 
Delegated Authority 
The Project Board shall have overall strategic authority to make commitments on behalf of the Board 
of Management, including but not limited to matters that have received Board approval in principle.  
  
For the sale of the Longman site this would include specifically, but not exclusively:  
  

• Selection of a preferred bidder following marketing of the site.  
• Conclusion of any contracts of sale or purchase as previously approved by the Board.  

 
 
CORPORATE STRATEGY 
In respect of its strategic and development responsibilities, the full Board of Management meets at least 
annually to consider establishment of the College’s strategic plan, with monitoring against targets 
undertaken throughout the planning period. 
 
ESTATES STRATEGY    
Estates matters are reported to the Finance and General Purposes Committee of the College, with 
exception of specific legacy projects being reported the Estates Legacy Committee as noted in the 
section above.  
 
Some significant projects have been delivered in 2021/22 to optimise the workshop space.  The College 
considers its Estate to be fit for purpose, although changes in demand mean that significant adaptation 
of the estate is required. The 2022/25 estates strategy estates strategy has been redrafted, this has 
been approved by EMT the Board of Management.   
 
Campus Current Condition Future Plan Priorities 
Inverness 
Campus 

Excellent To decrease the 
proportion of office 
space in light of 
hybrid working and 
transform existing 
office space to 
provide additional 
teaching space. 

Action to decrease carbon 
footprint 
 
Asset management 
 
Maximise teaching space 
 
Robust maintenance and 
replacement programme 

Early Learning 
and Childcare 
Centre 

Excellent To continue to lease 
the building to 
external learning and 
childcare service 
provider 

Operate the building in line 
with the agreed lease 

Scottish School of 
Forestry 

Main building and 
former tractor shed: 
excellent  
 
Outbuildings: Poor 

To improve 
sustainability 

Optimise use of existing 
buildings by supporting 
delivery across other 
curriculum areas 
 
Undertake options’ 
appraisal for development 
of additional delivery space 
 
Maintain security of site 
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Longman site N/A vacant site To dispose of the site  Finalise lease on 
Vodaphone/Thus 
equipment 
 
Site sold in December 2023 

Burnet Road 
Construction 
Centre 

Good Maximise curriculum 
delivery  

Monitor use, safety and 
security 

 
 
BOARD’S STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL 
CONTROL  
The College’s Board of Management is responsible for the College’s system of internal control and for 
reviewing its effectiveness. Such a system is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure 
to achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against 
material misstatement or loss. 
 
In the opinion of the Board of Management, the College is committed to implementing all provisions of 
the Code of Good Governance for Scotland’s Colleges. As at the date of approval of the annual report 
and financial statements, the College’s system of internal control is regularly subjected to scrutiny and 
review by the Audit Committee, reporting to the Board of Management, in a manner consistent with the 
internal control guidance for directors on the Code of Good Governance for Scotland’s Colleges. 
 
The College’s Executive Management Team and the Audit Committee also receive regular reports from 
the internal audit function, which includes recommendations for improvement. The Audit Committee’s 
role in this area is confined to a high-level review of the arrangements for internal control. The Board of 
Management’s agenda includes a regular item for consideration of risk and control and receives reports 
thereon from the Executive Management Team and the Audit Committee.  
 
The Board maintains a Risk Register, which records internal and external risks and identifies mitigating 
actions to reduce the threat of those risks and their impact.   
 
GOING CONCERN 
See Note 1 on the Financial Statements for a detailed consideration.  
 
CONCLUSION 
The College complies with all the principles of the 2016 Code of Good Governance for Scotland’s 
Colleges, and it has complied throughout the year ended 31 July 2023. 
 
Approved by order of the members of the Board on 20th September 2024 and signed on its behalf by: 
 
 
 
 
Professor Christopher O’Neil       Dee Bird               
Principal and Chief Executive Officer      Interim Chair of Board
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Section Two: Remuneration and Staff Report 
 
The information disclosed within the tables below are subject to audit by the College’s external auditor, 
and all other sections of the Remuneration and Staff Report are reviewed for consistency.  
 
Remuneration Policy  
Inverness College UHI Board of Management has responsibility for determining the Principal and Chief 
Executive’s salary, and on recommendation of the Principal, determining and agreeing the Executive 
Management Team pay. The Performance Review and Remuneration Committee of the Board of 
Management are tasked with conducting the review of pay considerations for these posts in line with 
the terms of reference of this Committee.  
 
The Committee shall consider, support, scrutinise and implement the remuneration package and 
conditions of service, and any changes thereof, of the College Principal and the Executive 
Management Team (EMT) as is considered appropriate taking into account that the Principal and the 
EMT should be fairly rewarded for their individual performance and contribution to the College’s overall 
performance and observing, recognising and considering the following: 
 

1. In terms of EMT remuneration, where the College stands in relation to other comparable 
institutions in the sector ensuring consideration is given to organisations of a similar size and 
the local market; 

2. The Scottish Government’s approach to remuneration in the public sector. 
3. The relationship between the remuneration of the EMT and that of other employees of the 

College 
4. The benefits granted to the EMT; and 
5. The adequacy of pension arrangements and recognise the cost implication of pension 

arrangements including the pension effect of remuneration. 
 
Remuneration (including salary) and Pension Entitlements  
The following table provides detail of the remuneration and pension interests of senior management.  
 
Salary entitlements 
The following tables provides detail of the remuneration and pension interests of senior management. 
 
 Year ended 31 July 2023 Year ended 31 July 2022 

Name Salary 
£’000 

Pension 
Benefit 
£’000 

Total 
£’000 

Salary 
£’000 

Pension 
Benefit 
£’000 

Total 
£’000 

Principal 
and Chief 
Executive 
– Chris 
O’Neil  

120-125 58 175-180 105-110 42 150-155 

Vice 
Principal – 
Operations 
& External 
Relations 
Georgina 
Parker 

85-90 51 135-140 75-80 31 110-115 

Vice 
Principal – 
Student 
Experience 
& 

85-90 50 135-140 75-80 30 110-115 
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Quality – 
Lindsay 
Snodgrass 

 
Fair Pay – Pay Multiples  
The 2021-22 FReM has introduced new requirements around disclosures of 25th and 75th percentile 
pay ratios, their comparison to the remuneration of the College’s highest paid official, percentage 
changes from the previous year and explanations of any changes. The following table details these new 
requirements and the ratios between the highest paid official and the total pay and benefits for each 
category 
 
 2022/23 

£’000 
2021/22 
£’000 

Change 
% 

Range of workforce remuneration 20-84 19 -80  
Highest paid official remuneration 115 110 5% 
Median (total pay and benefits) 39 39 0% 
Median (salary only) 39 39 0% 
Ratio 2.9:1 2.8:1  
25th percentile (total pay and 
benefits) 

28 28 0% 

25th percentile (salary only) 28 28 0% 
Ratio 4.1:1 3.9:1  
75th percentile (total pay and 
benefits) 

43 43 0% 

75th percentile (salary only) 43 43 0% 
Ratio 2.7:1 2.6:1  
Explanation of changes (per FReM 
6.5.26) 

No significant changes from 
prior year 

 

 
The banded remuneration of the highest paid official in the organisation in the financial year 2022/23 
was £110,000 - £115,000 (2021/22 £105,000 - £110,000). This was 2.9 times (2021/22 – 2.8 times) the 
median remuneration of the workforce which was £39,264 (2021/22 £35,080). 
 
 
Accrued Pension Benefits 
Pension benefits for employees are provided through the Scottish Teacher’s Superannuation Scheme 
(STSS), a defined benefit scheme, which is notionally funded and contracted out of State Earnings-
Related Pension Scheme and the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS).  
 
Both STSS and LGPS are final salary pension schemes. This means that pension benefits are based 
on the final year’s pay and the number of years that the person has been a member of the scheme.  
 
The LGPS scheme’s normal retirement age is 65 for pre-1 April 2015 benefits. For post 31 March 2015 
benefits, unless a member is aged 60 by 31 March 2020 and retirement age is protected, then normal 
retirement age will be linked to State Pension Age. 
 
Contribution rates are set annually for all employees and can be found in note 22.  
 
There is no automatic entitlement to a lump sum. Members may opt to give up (commute) pension for 
lump sum up to the limit set by the Finance Act 2004.  The accrual rate guarantees a pension based 
on final pensionable salary and years of pensionable service.  
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Senior Officials Pension 
Pension benefits are provided to senior officials on the same basis as all other staff. The accrued 
pension benefits for senior officials are set out in the table below, together with the pension contributions 
made by the college. 
 
Name Accrued 

pension 
at 

pension 
age at 31 

July 
2023 

Accrued 
lump sum 

at 
pension 
age 31 

July 2023 

Real 
Increase 

in pension 
1 

August 
2022 to 
31 July 
2023 

Real 
Increase 

lump sum 1 
August 

2022to 31 
July 2023 

CETV 
at 31 
July 
2023 

CETV 
at 31 
July 
2022 

Real 
Increase in 

CETV 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Principal and 
Chief Executive – 
Chris O’Neil 

 
55-60 

 
0-5 

 
0 - 2.5 

 
0-2.5 

 
917 

 
855 

 
56 

Vice Principal – 
Operations & 
External 
Relations - 
Georgina Parker 

 
 

10-15 

 
 

0 - 5 

 
 

2.5-5 

 
 

0 – 2.5 

 
 

182 

 
 

119 

 
 

57 

Vice Principal – 
Student Experience 
& 
Quality – Lindsay 
Snodgrass 

 
 

10-15 

 
 

0 - 5 

 
 

2.5-5 

 
 

0 – 2.5 

 
 

139 

 
 

84 

 
 

50 

 
Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) 
A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capitalised value of the pension 
scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. 
 
The value of the accrued pension benefits has been calculated on the basis of the age at which the 
person will first become entitled to receive a pension on retirement without reduction on account of its 
payment at that age; without exercising any option to commute pension entitlement into a lump sum; 
and without any adjustment for the effects of future inflation. The pension figures shown relate to the 
benefits that the person has accrued as a consequence of their total Local Government service and not 
just their current appointment.  
 
In considering the accrued pension benefits figures the following contextual information should be taken 
into account:  
 

(i) The figures for pension and lump sum are illustrative only in light of the assumptions set out 
above and do not necessarily reflect the actual benefits that any individual may receive upon 
retirement.  

(ii) The accrued benefits figures are reflective of the pension contributions that both the 
employer and the scheme member have made over a period of time. 

 
Real increase in CETV 
This reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer. It does not include the increase in 
accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any benefits 
transferred from another pension scheme or arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors 
for the start and end of the period. 
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Compensation for loss of office  
No employees left under voluntary exit terms on 31 July 2023.  
 
Salaries and Related Costs 
 2023 2023 2023 2022 
 Directly Employed 

Staff 
Seconded and 
Agency Staff 

Total Total 

Wages 
and 
salaries 

 
15,419,222 

 
27,503 

 
15,446,725 

 
12,707,348 

Social 
Security 
Costs 

 
1,327,856 

 
- 

 
1,327,856 

 
1,259,276 

Other 
pension 
costs 

 
2,722,450 

 
- 

 
2,722,450 

 
2,514,680 

FRS 102 
Employer 
Costs 
 

 
742,000 

 
- 
 

 
742,000 

 
2,173,000 

 
Total 

 
20,211,528 

 
27,503 

 
20,239,031 

 
18,654,304 

Average 
number 
of FTE 

 
350 

 
0 

 
350 

 
331 

 
The College does not hold FTE data in respect of agency staff. 
 
The College employed 277 females and 174 males as at 31 July 2023 (293 females and 167 males as 
at 31 July 2022). 
 
In the year ended 31 July 2023 staff turnover was 2.10% (2.53% 2021-22). 
 
For the year to 31 July 2023, the College lost a total of 2,497 working days to sickness absence 2,115 
days 2021-22). This is an average absence rate of 2.8% (2.49% 202122).  
 
Employee Matters  
Employee and student representation is provided at Board level and the college operates a joint 
consultative committee structure for formal consultation with staff recognised trade unions. The College 
Committee structure also involves staff and students across the college (including trade union 
representation) in areas including equalities, diversity and inclusion and health, safety and wellbeing. 
 
The Audit Committee of the Board of Management oversees and scrutinises the performance of the 
College in light of the Health and Safety Management System. Quarterly Performance Indicators are 
reported to the Health, Safety and Wellbeing Committee, EMT and the Board of Management.  The 
College, along with several other UHI partners, uses the AssessNET recording system from Riskex for 
incident recording and management and risk assessment recording.  
 
The College uses a job evaluation system ‘Evaluate’, to evaluate all new posts and changes to posts. 
 
The College will provide equality of opportunity in the recruitment and selection of vacant posts and 
ensure applicants are treated on the basis of merit and ability. In doing so the College will promote 
recruitment and selection practices which do not discriminate on any unfair or unlawful grounds, for 
example because of sex, race, disability, marital status, sexual orientation, gender reassignment, age, 
pregnancy or maternity and/or religion or belief. 
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Inverness College aims to be an inclusive organisation where everyone is treated with respect and 
dignity, and where there is equal opportunity for all. The College respects and values the diversity of its 
staff and applicants. The College recognises that we all have complex identities made up of many 
strands. These can include, but are not limited to, ethnicity, gender, sexual orientation, age, physical 
and mental aptitudes, nationality, socio-economic status, and religious, political or other beliefs. The 
College embraces and celebrates these differences in a positive environment and is committed to 
engaging with the needs of our diverse staff and users to enable us, both individually and corporately, 
to achieve our aims. Inverness College will tackle barriers to participation and create a culture in which 
equal opportunities and equal treatment are a priority for all staff and users. In the recruitment, training, 
pay and management of staff, and in our day-to-day work with both colleagues and users, we seek to 
create an environment where attitudes and biases that hinder the progress of individuals and groups 
are dismantled, and where we work together in mutual respect and tolerance. 
 
As part of the Inverness College UHI’s commitment to equal opportunities, we guarantee to interview 
any disabled applicant who fully meets the essential minimum criteria details on the person specification 
for the posts. 
 
The Equality Act (2010) defines a disability as a physical or mental impairment which has a substantial 
and long term (i.e. lasted or likely to last for 12 months or more) adverse effect on a person’s ability to 
carry out normal day-to-day activities. Further guidance in relation to the meaning or disability is 
accessible on the Equality and Human Rights commission website:  
 
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com 
 
If an applicant wishes to be considered under the Guaranteed Interview scheme, they are advised to 
complete the ‘Disability’ section of the College’s application form and indicate ‘Yes’ that they wish to 
be considered under the scheme. 
 
To enable all applicants to fully participate in our selection process we will make reasonable 
adjustments.  
  
Our commitment to an active Equal Opportunities Policy doesn't just cover our recruitment and selection 
procedures, but runs right through learning and development, professional development and review, 
and promotion opportunities. We work hard to cultivate an environment free from discrimination, 
harassment and victimisation. At Inverness College UHI, everyone can achieve their full potential, 
regardless of: 
 

• gender, sexual orientation and marital status; 
• race, colour, nationality; 
• hours of work; 
• religious or political beliefs; 
• disability; 
• age. 

 
The college has a duty under the Equality Act 2010 to make reasonable adjustments for disabled 
employees, to ensure they are not put at a disadvantage in the course of their employment when 
compared with non-disabled employees. Reasonable adjustments may include changes to either 
working practices or the physical working environment, at the request of the individual or following 
advice from a medical professional. The reasonableness of an adjustment will be dependent upon the 
situation. The college is committed to reviewing requests or recommendations for reasonable 
adjustments on a case-by-case basis. 
 
As an employer, education provider and public service provider, Inverness College UHI is subject to, 
and welcomes, the requirements of the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) 2011.  
 
The public sector equality duty as set out in the Act, is referred to as the “general equality duty”. It 
requires us to have due regard to the need to:  
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- eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other prohibited conduct;  
- advance equality of opportunity between people from protected characteristic groups;  
- foster good relationships between all people, whether they share a protected characteristic or 

not;  
 
Advancing equality of opportunity involves having:  
 

- due regard to the need to remove or minimise disadvantage suffered by people due to their 
protected characteristics and;  

- take steps to meet the needs of people with these characteristics where they are different from 
the needs of others;  

- encourage people from these groups to participate in public life, or in activities where their 
participation is disproportionately low  

 
Specific duties of the Act require us to report on mainstreaming the equality duty and publish equality 
outcomes and report progress.  
 
We also published our PSED update report in June 2023.   
 
We also have a duty to publish gender pay gap information. The gender pay gap as published in April 
2022 was 6.1%. 
 
Our 2021/22-2025/26 Strategic Plan embodies these themes and sets out our ambitions for how the 
College will develop during the next 4 years.  
 
Our plan continues to be underpinned by the principles of providing access to a high-quality educational 
experience for students which provides tailored support to meet the needs of individuals in the context 
of a positive declaration environment. For our staff, we will continue to provide a supportive workplace 
which encourages staff to develop to their full potential with our support.  
 
Our approach to Equalities underpins and guides all we do and provides an umbrella under which every 
aspect of the student and staff journey is encompassed. We believe that leadership is a shared 
responsibility and empower our staff to work together and in partnership with our students to meet their 
aspirations.  
 
UHI Inverness recognises that that its people are its greatest asset and therefore attracting, developing 
and retaining talented staff is a high priority. Labour shortages across the UK and real terms reductions 
in government funding for tertiary education require innovative talent management approaches. These 
approaches support our collaborative pattern of leadership, where our people are empowered to work 
together to achieve our shared goals.  
 
Our Talent Management Strategy will ensure that the College, now and into the future, has a 
constructive, demand led approach to recruiting, developing, recognising and retaining talented 
individuals and teams, who are Ambitious, Bold and Creative in meeting the needs of our communities. 
Our Talent Management Strategy is based around a Talent Management Framework which will 
encompass all of our people related activities: Workforce Planning, Talent Attraction, Induction and 
Ongoing Engagement, Professional Development, Succession Planning and Organisational 
Performance Management.  
 
All staff have regular opportunities to engage in a wide range of training related to equalities and 
inclusiveness in order to enhance their practice. A wide variety of professional learning opportunities 
have been provided for staff over the period of this report. This includes engagement with Induction 
programmes, Staff Development Days, Staff Conferences and external training. Inverness College is 
committed to the development of all staff through the achievement of relevant additional qualifications. 
Our staff development priorities continue to focus on all our teaching staff having a recognised teaching 
qualification and all managers having a recognised management qualification.  
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Trade Union Facility Time 
In accordance with the Trade Union (Facility Time Publication Requirements) Regulations 2017, the 
College provided the following support through paid facility time for union officials working at the College 
during the year ended 31 March 2023. 
 
Relevant union officials 
Number of employees who were relevant union 
officials during the relevant period 

Full-time equivalent employee number 

8 8 
 

Percentage of time spent on facility time 
Percentage Number of employees 

0% - 
1%-50% 8 
51%-99% - 

100% - 
 
 
Percentage of pay bill spent on facility time  
Total cost of facility time £12,898  
Total pay bill £20,211,528 
Percentage of the total pay bill spent on facility 
time 

0.06% 

 
Paid trade union activities 
Time spent on trade union activities as a 
percentage of total paid facility time hours 

5% 

 
 
Equality, Diversity and Inclusivity Policy  
A Single Equality, Diversity and Inclusivity Policy has been developed and implemented by all 
Academic Partners and the University of the Highlands and Islands. 
 
Inverness College UHI is committed to equality of opportunity and non-discrimination in all aspects of 
work and study. We recognise that individually we all have differences of some sort, from which we can 
share and learn. The broader a range of people we employ, the wider a perspective we can adopt; a 
diverse workforce not only ensures that we are legally compliant but makes good business sense. 
 
As a provider of education and employment Inverness College UHI values diversity and is committed 
to encouraging everyone to realise their full potential. To this end, Inverness College UHI continues to 
work with students, staff, external agencies and the wider community to develop a positive and enabling 
culture of work and study. 
 
Achievement of the above goals requires the promotion of practices to overcome any existing structural 
barriers (systems or processes that make entry to employment more difficult for a person/group), 
geographical isolation, and the provision of opportunities which reflect the linguistic and cultural diversity 
of the region.  It also involves continuing to attract new and diverse people to the Highlands and Islands, 
to add to the culture and economy, and help the Inverness College UHI reach our full potential. 
 
This policy allows the Inverness College UHI to carry out its general and specific public sector equality 
duties, and work to improve the experience of all staff and students, regardless of an individual’s 
protected characteristics. 
 
We conduct our statutory duties under the Equality Act 2010 and demonstrate our commitment to 
mainstreaming equality and diversity by: 
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• Developing policies, procedures and processes to achieve the general and specific public sector 
duties in accordance with the Equality Act 2010 and the Equality Act 2010 (Specific Duties) 
(Scotland) Regulations 2012.  

• Monitoring the potential impact of our policies, procedures and practices on different protected 
groups to help tackle inequality, promote equality of opportunity and foster good relations.  

• Removing any potential barriers to access, participation, retention and achievement of staff by 
making reasonable adjustments where appropriate. 

• Creating inclusive learning and working environments and practices that promote respect for all. 
These environments aim to prevent and challenge stereotyping, prejudice, discrimination and 
harassment and disadvantage. 

 
Fair Work Policy 
Fair work is work that offers all individuals an effective voice, opportunity, security, fulfilment and 
respect. It balances the rights and responsibilities of employers and workers. It generates benefits for 
individuals, organisations and society. 
 
Our fair work journey links in many ways with our new Talent Management Strategy and will help our 
organisation to take the next steps within the 5 dimensions of The Fair Work Framework. Our Talent 
Management Strategy, which is a sub-strategy of our Strategic Plan, is a new strategy, which will ensure 
that the College, now and into the future, has a demand led approach to recruiting, developing, 
recognising and retaining talented individuals and teams. 
 
Below are some examples of our activities under the five dimensions of the Fair Work Framework. 
 
Effective Voice 
At UHI Inverness, we have created a culture whereby we are open and transparent and listen to our 
workforce and have formal and informal processes in place to capture ideas and initiatives. 
 
Across UHI Inverness, we use a variety of methods of gathering feedback and supporting ongoing 
dialogue with staff as part of our commitment to ensuring everyone feels valued, heard and has the 
opportunity to provide feedback.  
 
Supportive practices for Effective Voice include: 

• Engaging with staff through regular written management communications and frequent online 
and face-to-face forums that give scope to individuals and groups to share their views, be 
listened and influence outcomes.  

• Various College Committee’s including for example, Health, Safety and Wellbeing and Equality, 
Diversity and Inclusion Committee’s that again gives scope to individuals to share their views, 
be listened and influence outcomes.  

• Pulse Surveys – for more frequent and responsive staff surveying and to seek staff views on a 
variety of topics. 

• UHI Inverness recognises three trade unions: the EIS-FELA, GMB and UNISON. Engagement 
with our local trade union representatives takes place through our Joint Consultative Committee 
(JCC) and our local trade union representatives can provide feedback on behalf of their 
members. Local facility time arrangements are in place for trade union representatives. 

• To continue to develop our high-performance culture, ensuring professional practice of all staff 
is aligned to sector standards, industry best practice and our values, all staff take part in their 
Professional Review and Development (PRD) at least on an annual basis. 

 
Opportunity 
Supportive practices to promote Opportunity include: 

• UHI Inverness’s Equality, Diversity and Inclusivity Policy shows our commitment to equality for 
our students, staff, visitors, contractors and others who engage with us through any activity. The 
purpose of this policy is to specify the Equality, Diversity and Inclusivity Policy of UHI Inverness 
identify protected characteristics under the Equality Act (2010); outline the principles, 
responsibilities and commitments of the institution in realising the statutory obligations of the 
Equality Act (2010). 
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• UHI Inverness aims to be an inclusive organisation where everyone is treated with respect and 
dignity, and where there is equal opportunity for all. The College respects and values the 
diversity of its staff and applicants. The College recognises that we all have complex identities 
made up of many strands.  
These can include, but are not limited to, ethnicity, gender, sexual orientation, age, physical and   
mental aptitudes, nationality, socio-economic status, and religious, political or other beliefs. The 
College embraces and celebrates these differences in a positive environment and is committed 
to engaging with the needs of our diverse staff and users to enable us, both individually and 
corporately, to achieve our aims. UHI Inverness will tackle barriers to participation and create a 
culture in which equal opportunities and equal treatment are a priority for all staff and users. In 
the recruitment, training, pay and management of staff, and in our day-to-day work with both 
colleagues and users, we seek to create an environment where attitudes and biases that hinder 
the progress of individuals and groups are dismantled, and where we work together in mutual 
respect and tolerance. 

• UHI Inverness’s provides equality of opportunity in the recruitment and selection of vacant posts 
and ensure applicants are treated on the basis of merit and ability. In doing so the College will 
promote recruitment and selection practices which do not discriminate on any unfair or unlawful 
grounds, for example because of sex, race, disability, marital status, sexual orientation, gender 
reassignment, age, pregnancy or maternity and/or religion or belief. Our Staff Recruitment and 
Selection Policy and Procedure has helped to develop and encourage a safe and secure 
working environment within a culture of equality of opportunity for all and provides an 
environment which allows new staff the opportunity to develop themselves and the functions 
they are recruited to support. 

 
Security 
Supportive practices to promote Security include: 

• UHI Inverness is a Living Wage Accredited Employer. When the increase in the Real Living 
Wage rate was announced in September 2022 the college implemented this immediately, eight 
months ahead of the May 2023 deadline.  Our workforce is paid at least the real living wage, 
including the Modern Apprentices we employ.  

• UHI Inverness supports staff through occupational sick pay provision as well as access to 
Occupational Health.  

• UHI Inverness is committed to promoting the equality of opportunity for all staff through its 
approach to requests for Flexible Working. The purpose of UHI Inverness’s Staff Flexible 
Working Policy and Procedure is to outline an employee’s statutory rights and explains the 
process for making a Flexible Working Application and where operationally and financially 
viable, help employees to achieve a healthier work-life balance by, where possible, supporting 
individuals to work on a flexible basis. 

 
Fulfilment 
Supportive practices to promote Fulfilment include: 

• UHI Inverness is committed to fostering a culture which actively promotes and values the 
professional development of all staff to ensure that our staff have opportunities to develop and 
maintain their knowledge and skills to the highest industry and professional standards and are 
equipped for an increasingly digital world. 

• As part of the newly developed Talent Management Strategy, the aim of the Professional 
Development team is to ensure that our staff have opportunities to develop and maintain their 
knowledge and skills to the highest industry and professional standards and are equipped for 
an increasingly digital world.  

 
We will achieve this by:  

• Ensuring staff have the appropriate time available for their professional development, in 
accordance with current contractual provisions.  

• Providing funding for staff to engage in a wide range of relevant learning opportunities both 
within and outside of UHI.  

• Supporting staff to undertake relevant research and scholarly activities, including additional 
qualifications.  
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• Ensuring that all managers and team leaders undertake a certified leadership and management 
training programme.  

• Delivering on our digital transformation strategy. 
• Professional Pathway for Lecturers - our Professional Pathway for Lecturers takes a cohesive 

approach to the various strands of lecturer development, including the Learning & Teaching 
Induction programme, the delivery of the PDA Teaching in Scotland’s Colleges (primarily aimed 
at newly appointed lecturers to enhance their professional core competences and abilities), the 
TQFE programme and the UHI Learning & Teaching Review programme. 

• UHI Inverness provides staff development programmes (e.g. TQFE). 
 

Respect 
Supportive practices to promote Respect include: 

• UHI Inverness have various policies and procedures that are in place around behaviours, 
attitudes, wellbeing, health & safety, flexible working, and special leave. Policies are in place to 
foster positive workplace relationships. 

• UHI Inverness has employee partnerships to support staff via an Employee Assistance 
Programme and Access to Work’s Mental Health Support Service. Our Employee Assistance 
Programme can provide support and guidance on a variety of topics, which is available to staff, 
for free, 24/7 both online and by phone.  

• We have also partnered with Able Futures and its Access to Work’s Mental Health Support 
Service to provide additional support to staff. Able Futures can support staff experiencing 
difficulties including anxiety, depression, grief or stress, or who are struggling to deal with 
problems such as debt, disrupted sleep or relationships that may be affecting their mental 
health. Support is available from a mental health professional who will work with individual’s to 
create a support plan to help their mental health. 

• A Staff Wellbeing Group was established in 2020 to advise the Principal and the Health, Safety 
& Wellbeing Committee on the wellbeing of UHI Inverness staff and to promote formal 
communication and informal dialogue with staff. The group is cross-college and cross-level in 
its membership with no hierarchy. Membership includes trade union representatives. A broad 
range of discussions and decisions around staff wellbeing continue to take place. 

 
 
Wider Enhancements around Equality, Diversity and Inclusion  
Although the college moved to a new campus in August 2015, we have been keen to look at further 
ways to make our campus inclusive and accessible to all. Much of our enhancement work has been 
driven by the student voice, both through the Student’s Association and through the Equality, Diversity 
and Inclusion Committee. During this period, there have been various accessibility improvements made 
to the College campus. This has included introducing a yellow brick road in the form of a new floor tile 
arrangement which has been put in place to allow a clearer pathway around busy routes. The college 
has also added braille signage to classrooms and toilet doors as well as adding larger room numbers 
to all our Supported Education classrooms. In relation to our wheelchair users, we have added 
enhanced accessible features in the form of new height adjustable sinks and benches in the 
Professional Cookery training kitchens. The college have also updated all the panic alarms to be more 
accessible. The college have also made significant modifications to a number of doors around the main 
campus and adaptations to disabled toilets to allow for improved wheelchair accessibility and 
movement. We have also successfully lobbied our bus companies to divert their routes around the back 
of our campus providing a more direct route from public transport into the campus. This has been 
particularly beneficial to those with mobility challenges. Through our Equality and Diversity committee 
we have identified several further enhancements which are under way and which we will report on in 
our next report. 
 
Parliamentary Accountability Report  
There is nothing to report under the above for Inverness College for 2022/23 or 2021/22.  
 
 
 
Professor Christopher O’Neil       Dee Bird 
Principal and Chief Executive Officer      Interim Chair of Board 

Inverness College UHI Financial Statements for the year ended 31st July 2023

36

DocuSign Envelope ID: 19568C61-E963-4B70-BAAE-0BFB53CDBB96

https://able-futures.co.uk/
https://able-futures.co.uk/mental-health-support-for-employers
https://able-futures.co.uk/mental-health-support-for-employers


Independent auditor’s report to the Board of Management of Inverness College, the Auditor 
General for Scotland and the Scottish Parliament 
 
Reporting on the audit of the financial statements 
 
Opinion on financial statements 
We have audited the financial statements in the annual report and accounts of Inverness College for 
the year ended 31 July 2023 under the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992 and section 
44(1)(c) of the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005. The financial statements 
comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Reserves, Balance Sheet, 
and Statement of Cash Flows and notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting 
policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law 
and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice).  
 
In our opinion the accompanying financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the state of the affairs of the college as at 31 July 2023 and of its 
deficit for the year then ended; 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice; and 

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Further and Higher Education 
(Scotland) Act 1992 and directions made thereunder by the Scottish Funding Council, the 
Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005, and regulation 14 of The Charities 
Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended). 

 
Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK) 
(ISAs (UK)), as required by the Code of Audit Practice approved by the Auditor General for Scotland. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements section of our report. We were appointed by the Auditor General on 18 
May 2022. Our period of appointment is five years, covering 2022/23 to 2026/27. We are independent 
of the college in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial 
statements in the UK including the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. Non-audit services prohibited 
by the Ethical Standard were not provided to the college. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Conclusions relating to going concern basis of accounting 
We have concluded that the use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the 
financial statements is appropriate. 
 
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to 
events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the ability of the 
college to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months 
from when the financial statements are authorised for issue. 
 
These conclusions are not intended to, nor do they, provide assurance on the current or future financial 
sustainability of the college. However, we report on the college’s arrangements for financial 
sustainability in a separate Annual Audit Report available from the Audit Scotland website. 
 
Risks of material misstatement 
We report in our Annual Audit Report the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement that 
we identified and our judgements thereon. 
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Responsibilities of the Board of Management for the financial statements 
As explained more fully in the Statement of the Board of Management's Responsibilities, the Board of 
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with the financial reporting framework, and for such internal control as the Board of 
Management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Management is responsible for assessing the ability 
of the college to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless there is an intention to discontinue the 
operations of the college. 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements. 
 
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design 
procedures in line with our responsibilities outlined above to detect material misstatements in respect 
of irregularities, including fraud. Procedures include: 
 

• using our understanding of the college sector to identify that the Further and Higher Education 
(Scotland) Act 1992 and section 44(1)(c) of the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 
2005 are significant in the context of the college; 

• inquiring of the College Principal as to other laws or regulations that may be expected to have a 
fundamental effect on the operations of the college; 

• inquiring of the College Principal concerning the college’s policies and procedures regarding 
compliance with the applicable legal and regulatory framework; 

• discussions among our team on the susceptibility of the financial statements to material 
misstatement, including how fraud might occur; and 

• considering whether the audit team collectively has the appropriate competence and capabilities 
to identify or recognise non-compliance with laws and regulations. 

 
The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is affected 
by the inherent difficulty in detecting irregularities, the effectiveness of the college’s controls, and the 
nature, timing and extent of the audit procedures performed. 
 
We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework that the body operates in, and 
identified the key laws and regulations that:  
 

• had a direct effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements.  This includes the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992 and section 
44(1)(c) of the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005. 

• do not have a direct effect on the financial statements but compliance with which may be 
fundamental to the body’s ability to operate or to avoid a material penalty.  These include the 
Data Protection Act 2018 and relevant employment legislation.  
 

As a result of performing the above, we identified the greatest potential for fraud was in relation to the 
risk is that the year-end expenditure transactions may be subject to potential manipulation in an attempt 
to operate within the resource limit allocated by the Scottish Funding Council. In response to this risk, 
we obtained confirmation of the resource limit allocated by the Scottish Funding Council and tested a 
sample of accruals, prepayments and invoices received around the year-end to assess whether they 
have been recorded in the correct period.  
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In addition, we identified a potential fraud risk that management may be incentivised to allocate revenue 
to future years given future year financial pressures. In response to this risk we have performed testing 
of a sample of income recognised around the year end to assess whether it has been recorded in the 
correct period. 
 
In common with audits under ISAs (UK) we are also required to perform specific procedures to respond 
to the risk of management override. In addressing the risk of fraud through management override of 
controls, we tested the appropriateness of journal entries and other adjustments, assessed whether the 
judgements made in making accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and evaluated the 
business rationale of any significant transactions that are unusual or outside the normal course of 
business.  
 
In addition to the above, our procedures to respond to the risks identified included the following:  
 

• reviewing financial statement disclosures by testing to supporting documentation to assess 
compliance with provisions of relevant laws and regulation described as having a direct effect 
on the financial statements; and 

• performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may 
indicate risks of material misstatements due to fraud;  
 

Irregularities that result from fraud are inherently more difficult to detect than irregularities that result 
from error as fraud may involve collusion, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. The capability of the audit to detect fraud and other irregularities depends on factors 
such as the skilfulness of the perpetrator, the frequency and extent of manipulation, the degree of 
collusion involved, the relative size of individual amounts manipulated, and the seniority of those 
individuals involved. 
 
A further description of the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located 
on the Financial Reporting Council's website www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description 
forms part of our auditor’s report. 
 
Reporting on regularity of expenditure and income 
 
Opinion on regularity 
In our opinion in all material respects the expenditure and income in the financial statements were 
incurred or applied in accordance with any applicable enactments and guidance issued by the Scottish 
Ministers. 
 
Responsibilities for regularity 
The Board of Management is responsible for ensuring the regularity of expenditure and income. In 
addition to our responsibilities in respect of irregularities explained in the audit of the financial 
statements section of our report, we are responsible for expressing an opinion on the regularity of 
expenditure and income in accordance with the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000. 
 
Reporting on other requirements 
 
Opinion prescribed by the Auditor General for Scotland on the audited parts of the 
Remuneration and Staff Report 
We have audited the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report described as audited list the audited 
parts if not clearly identified in the accounts. In our opinion, the audited parts of the Remuneration and 
Staff Report have been properly prepared in accordance with the Further and Higher Education 
(Scotland) Act 1992 and directions made thereunder by the Scottish Funding Council. 
 
 
Other information 
The Board of Management is responsible for the other information in the annual report and accounts. 
The other information comprises the Performance Report and the Accountability Report excluding the 
audited parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report.  
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Our responsibility is to read all the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the 
course of the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material 
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives 
rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have 
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required 
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon except on the Performance Report and Governance 
Statement to the extent explicitly stated in the following opinions prescribed by the Auditor General for 
Scotland. 
 
Opinions prescribed by the Auditor General for Scotland on the Performance Report and 
Governance Statement 
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 
 

• the information given in the Performance Report for the financial year for which the financial 
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements and that report has been 
prepared in accordance with the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992 and 
directions made thereunder by the Scottish Funding Council; and 

• the information given in the Governance Statement for the financial year for which the financial 
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements and that report has been 
prepared in accordance with the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992 and 
directions made thereunder by the Scottish Funding Council. 
 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
We are required by the Auditor General for Scotland to report to you if, in our opinion: 
 

• adequate accounting records have not been kept; or 
• the financial statements and the audited parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report are not in 

agreement with the accounting records; or 
• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

 
We have nothing to report in respect of these matters. 
 
Conclusions on wider scope responsibilities 
In addition to our responsibilities for the annual report and accounts, our conclusions on the wider scope 
responsibilities specified in the Code of Audit Practice are set out in our Annual Audit Report. 
 
Use of our report 
This report is made solely to the parties to whom it is addressed in accordance with the Public Finance 
and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 and for no other purpose. In accordance with paragraph 108 of 
the Code of Audit Practice, we do not undertake to have responsibilities to members or officers, in their 
individual capacities, or to third parties. 
 
 
 
Pat Kenny, CPFA (for and on behalf of Deloitte LLP) 
110 Queen Street 
Glasgow 
G1 3BX 
United Kingdom 
 
20th September 2024 
Pat Kenny, CPFA (for and on behalf of Deloitte LLP). 
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year Ended 31 July 2023

2023 2022
Notes £ £

Income

Funding Council Grants 2 22,372,733 21,560,367
Tuition fees and education contracts 3 4,848,324 5,196,110
Other income 4 3,575,507 2,200,930
Investment income 5 32,166 1,874
Total Income 30,828,730 28,959,281

Expenditure

Staff costs 6 20,211,528 18,648,509
Other operating expenses 8 7,155,393 7,156,534
Depreciation 11 1,188,695 1,472,612
Impairment 13 1,060,000 0
Interest payable 9 3,009,495 3,155,555
Total Expenditure 32,625,111 30,433,210

Deficit before other gains and losses (1,796,381) (1,473,929)

Gain/(Loss) on disposal of fixed assets 0 0
Deficit before tax (1,796,381) (1,473,929)

Corporation tax 0 0
Deficit for the year (1,796,381) (1,473,929)

Actuarial gain in respect of pensions 22 7,754,000 16,696,000

Unrealised Surplus on revaluation of land and buildings 0 6,257,857

5,957,619 21,479,928

Represented by:
Unrestricted funds 5,957,619 15,222,071
Revaution reserve 0 6,257,857

5,957,619 21,479,928

The Statement of Comprehensive Income is prepared under the FE/HE SORP. The SORP does not
permit colleges to reflect non-cash budget for depreciation in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
The Non-Cash Allocation and Adjusted Operating Position as disclosed in the Performance Report,
provide the details of the Adjusted Operating Position on a Central Government accounting basis.

Total Comprehensive Income for the year

Total Comprehensive Income for the year
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Statement of Changes in Reserves
Year Ended 31 July 2023

Revaluation Unrestricted Total
Reserve Funds Funds

£ £ £

Balance at 31st July 2021 6,248,784 (12,187,203) (5,938,419)

Deficit for the year 0 (1,473,929) (1,473,929)

Revaluation of Land & Buildings 6,257,857 0 6,257,857

Actuarial surplus in respect of pensions 0 16,696,000 16,696,000
Total Comprehensive Gain for year 6,257,857 15,222,071 21,479,928
Balance at 31st July 2022 12,506,641 3,034,868 15,541,509

Balance at 1st August 2022 12,506,641 3,034,868 15,541,509

Deficit for the year (1,796,381) (1,796,381)

Revaluation of Land & Buildings 0 0 0

Actuarial surplus in respect of pensions 7,754,000 7,754,000
Total Comprehensive Gain for year 0 5,957,619 5,957,619
Balance at 31st July 2023 12,506,641 8,992,487 21,499,128
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Balance Sheet
Year Ended 31 July 2023

2023 2022
Notes £ £

Non-current assets
Tangible fixed assets 11 56,230,702 56,971,004

Current assets
Stocks 12 47,794 52,555
Assets held for sale 13 1,240,000 2,300,000
Debtors 14 2,802,350 2,495,679
Cash and cash equivalents 6,774,702 7,496,473

10,864,846 12,344,707

Creditors: 15 (8,421,560) (6,727,191)
amounts falling due within one year

Net current assets 2,443,286 5,617,516

Total assets less current liabilities 58,673,988 62,588,520

Creditors: 16 (40,294,717) (43,382,112)
amounts falling due after one year

Provisions 17 3,119,858 (3,664,899)
Total net assets 21,499,128 15,541,509

Represented by:
Property revaluation reserves 12,506,641 12,506,641
Unrestricted reserves 8,992,487 3,034,868

21,499,128 15,541,509

signed on its behalf by:

Professor Christopher O'Neil Dee Bird
Principal and Chief Executive Officer Interim Chair of Board

The accounts were approved by the Board of Management on 20th September 2024 and 
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Statement of Cash Flows
Year Ended 31 July 2023

2023 2022
Notes £ £

Cashflow from Operating Activities
Deficit for the year (1,796,381) (1,473,929)

Adjustment for non-cash items
Depreciation 11 1,188,695 1,472,612
Impairment 13 1,060,000 0
Pension costs less contributions payable 826,000 2,450,000
(Increase) / Decrease in stock 12 4,761 (18,395)
(Increase) in debtors 14 (306,671) (410,859)
Increase in creditors – less than one year 15 2,511,756 1,699,818
(Decrease) in creditors – more than one year 16 (3,087,395) (976,056)
Increase / (Decrease) in early retirement & provisions 17 143,243 (449,175)

Adjustments for investing or financing activities
Interest payable 9 84,000 277,000
Interest elements of NPD finance lease 9 2,925,495 2,878,555
Investment Income 5 (32,166) (1,874)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 3,521,337 5,447,697

Cash flows from Investing and financing activities
Interest payable 9 (84,000) (277,000)
Interest element of NPD finance lease 9 (2,925,495) (2,878,555)
Capital element of NPD finance lease (817,387) (821,189)
Investment Income 5 32,166 1,874
Payments made to acquire fixed assets 11 (448,392) (179,912)
Increase in cash in the year (721,771) 1,292,915

Cash at the beginning of the year 7,496,473 6,203,558

Cash at the end of the year 6,774,702 7,496,473

Inverness College UHI Financial Statements for the year ended 31st July 2023

44

DocuSign Envelope ID: 19568C61-E963-4B70-BAAE-0BFB53CDBB96



Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 July 2023     
      
1. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES      
      
Basis of Preparation      
      
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the Further & Higher Education (Scotland) 
Act 1992, the 2019 Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP) 2019:  Accounting in Further and 
Higher Education and in accordance with applicable Accounting Standards, including Financial 
Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 102) and the Government Financial Reporting Manual 2022/23 
(FReM).The financial statements conform to the accounts direction published by the Scottish Funding 
Council (SFC) in July 2023.      
      
The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items which are 
considered material in relation to the financial statements.      
      
Basis of Accounting      
      
Going Concern   
The accounts are prepared on a Going Concern basis. The Net Assets position prior to longer term 
Pension Provisions is £18,379,271 at 31 July 2023. Pension Provision include a provision for Early 
Retirements of £1,770,142 and a Pension Asset of £4,890,000 for the College’s share of deficit in the 
Highland Council Local Government Pension Scheme (LPGS). Once these are accounted for the 
College’s Net Asset position is £18,379,271. To the extent that the deficit is not met from the College’s 
other sources of income, it may only be met by future grants or Grant in Aid from the Scottish Funding 
Council via UHI as the Regional Strategic Body. This is because, under the normal conventions applying 
to Parliamentary control over income and expenditure, such grants may not be paid in advance of need. 
    
Net assets also include the outstanding amount under Non-Profit Distributing (NPD) finance. As at 31 
July 2023 this amounted to £33,829,781. Projection of income and expenditure to 31 January 2024 
indicate that compliance with loan repayments will continue.      
      
Net Current Assets position is £2,443,286. This includes in Current Assets an asset held for sale being 
the Longman Site of £1,240,000. The College considers that with careful financial monitoring its cash 
position will be manageable in 2023/24 and throughout the period to February 2024 at least. The 
College held cash at 31 July 2023 of £6,774,702. Cash flow projections through to 31 January 2024 
projects cash at 31 July 2024 of £6.1 million. The bank throughout this period may fluctuate due to 
drawing down of funding from the Scottish Funding Council. 
 
UHI through the SFC has indicated short term support if the college requires this. There is a lot of 
uncertainty about staff costs inflation, and overhead inflation. The sector is facing a challenging financial 
position in 2023/24 (flat funding) and expects to face a challenging financial position in future years.  
 
There are still one or two areas of efficiencies the College is seeking to address being Refectory delivery 
and some aspects of Research. These are likely to deliver further savings. However longer term, with 
public finances being the way they are, then the College will continue to face financial challenges. 
Discussions are taking place in the UHI Partnership Assembly to discuss the way ahead for the 
UHI/Colleges’ partnership to become more efficient and resilient in terms of governance and finances.  
      
As a public body the College is presumed to be a going concern unless there is a stated intention to 
withdraw the statutory services it provides under legislation. We have not been informed by the Scottish 
Government of any such intention.      
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Useful economic lives of buildings 
Buildings are depreciated over their expected remaining useful economic life as assessed by an 
independent, qualified valuer. Buildings owned by the College are split into components and each 
component is valued and depreciated separately. Land owned by the College is not depreciated. 
 
Buildings under NPD     Over 60 Years 
Older Buildings      Over 10 Years 
Property Additions      Over 4 Years 
 
Stocks 
Stocks are valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value. 
 
Recoverable amount of trade debtors 
Trade debtors are reviewed by appropriately experienced senior management team members with 
appropriate provision for non-payment of debt being charged to the financial statements as required. 
 
Obligations under defined benefit pension schemes 
The Board of Management has relied on the actuarial assumptions of qualified actuaries which have 
been reviewed and are considered reasonable and appropriate. 
 
Recognition of Income 
Income from grants, contracts and other services rendered is recognised in the income and expenditure 
account in proportion to the extent of completion of the contract or service concerned. All income from 
short-term deposits is credited to the income and expenditure account in the period in which it is earned. 
The main annual recurrent grant from SFC, which is intended to meet recurrent costs, is credited directly 
to the income and expenditure account. 
 
Tuition fees are credited to the Income and Expenditure Account in the year in which they are earned.  
The College operates a fee waiver policy that provides free access to education to students where they 
have special educational needs, or they or their partner is receiving a form of recognised benefit. 
 
Furlough income is credited to the Income and Expenditure Account in the year that the staff costs 
liability is incurred. 
 
Government Capital grants 
Government Capital Grants, as amounts approved by The Scottish Government or government agency, 
are paid to the College as required to meet its liabilities during the development process. This is treated 
as a deferred capital grant and is released to income in accordance with the accrual model as permitted 
by FRS 102 over the useful life of the asset it relates to on completion of the development phase. The 
accrual model requires the College to recognise income on a systematic basis over the period in which 
the College recognises the related costs for which the grant is intended to compensate. 
 
Government revenue grants 
Government revenue grants are recognised using the accrual model which means the College 
recognises the grant in income on a systematic basis over the period in which the College recognises 
the related costs for which the grant is intended to compensate. 
 
Non-Government grants 
Non-government capital and revenue grants are recognised using the performance model. If there are 
no performance conditions attached the grants are recognised as revenue when the grants are received 
or receivable. 
 
A grant that imposes specific future performance related conditions on the recipient is recognised as 
revenue only when the performance related conditions are met. 
 
A grant received before the revenue recognition criteria are satisfied is recognised as a liability. 
 
 

Inverness College UHI Financial Statements for the year ended 31st July 2023

46

DocuSign Envelope ID: 19568C61-E963-4B70-BAAE-0BFB53CDBB96



Tangible Fixed Assets - Land and Buildings      
      
Current Campuses      
The College procured its current campus buildings at Balloch and Inverness using the Scottish Futures 
Trust’s Non-Profit Distributing (NPD) model (additionally see Service Concession Arrangements note 
to the accounts, below). The buildings were handed over to the College in July and August 2015 in time 
for the 2015/16 academic year.  
      
These NPD assets were capitalised in 2015/16 and are included as fixed assets under land and 
buildings.  The buildings will be depreciated over their expected useful lives of 60 years on a straight-
line basis.  The NPD assets were revalued by J & E Shepherd, Chartered Surveyors using the UKGN2 
Depreciated Replacement Cost method of valuation as at 31 July 2022 (this was an interim revaluation).
      
The related debt is included in the balance sheet as a creditor and is repaid over a 25 year term. The 
College makes monthly unitary charge payments which include the capital element of the loan together 
with interest, facilities management and building lifecycle costs which are reported in the income and 
expenditure account. The Scottish Funding Council provides the College with grants to fund the unitary 
charge payments with the exception of the facilities management costs and 50% of the building lifecycle 
costs.      
      
Former Campus      
Land and Buildings inherited from the local authority are stated in the balance sheet at valuation (by 
Shepherd, Chartered Surveyors, in September 2015) less amounts written off by way of depreciation.  
In 2015/16 the former Longman Campus buildings were fully written down.  An SFC funded project was 
commenced during 2018/19 to demolish the former campus buildings to enable a clear development 
site to be presented for disposal. The value of the land has been transferred to assets held for sale and 
revalued (this was revalued by Montagu Evans, Registered Valuers, in June 2022). In 2022/23 there 
was a further impairment charge of £1,060,000 made in relation to the asset.    
      
Assets held for sale       
Properties which are on the market to sell are included at the lower of market value or depreciated 
replacement cost.      
      
Valuation of buildings      
College buildings are of a specialist nature and are valued on a periodic basis by an independent, 
qualified valuer. Land and buildings should be valued frequently enough so that carrying amounts are 
not materially misstated. To address this the college has an interim revaluation every three years; and 
a full revaluation every five years. The College had an interim revaluation at 31 July 2022 carried out 
by Shepherds, Registered Valuers.      
      
Tangible Fixed Assets - Equipment      
Individual items of equipment costing £5,000 or more (£30,000 or more for grouped items) are 
capitalised as Fixed Assets on the Balance Sheet.  Equipment costing less than these amounts  are 
written off to the income and expenditure account in the period of acquisition. Equipment is depreciated 
over its expected useful economic life, on a straight-line basis with a full year of depreciation charged 
in the year of acquisition, as follows:      
      
Equipment                        6.7 years (15% per year)    
Fixtures and Fittings         5 years (20% per year)    
Computer equipment                   Additions such as laptops are debited to revenue in the year of 
     acquisition.  Larger IT purchases such as servers are written off 
               over 3 years.    
      
Where Fixed Assets are acquired with the aid of specific grants, they are capitalised and depreciated 
as above. The related grant is credited to a deferred income account and is released to the income and 
expenditure account over the expected useful economic life of the related asset, on a basis consistent 
with the depreciation policy or in the case of an NPD asset over the unitary charge payments period. 
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Subsequent Expenditure on Existing Fixed Assets 
Where significant expenditure is incurred on tangible fixed assets, it is charged to the income and 
expenditure account in the period it is incurred, unless it meets one of the following criteria, in which 
case it is capitalised and depreciated on the relevant basis: 
 
•  Market value of the fixed asset has subsequently improved 
•  Asset capacity increases 
•  Substantial improvement in the quality of output or reduction in operating costs 
•  Significant extension of the asset’s life beyond that conferred by repairs and maintenance 
 
Leased Assets 
Costs in respect of operating leases are charged on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  
 
Leasing agreements, which transfer to the college substantially all the benefits and risks of ownership 
of an asset are treated as if the asset had been purchased outright. The assets are included in fixed 
assets and the capital elements of the leasing commitments are shown as obligations under finance 
leases. The lease rentals are treated as consisting of capital and interest elements. The capital element 
is applied to reduce the outstanding obligations and the interest element is charged to the income and 
expenditure account in proportion to the reducing capital element outstanding. Assets held under 
finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term or the useful economic lives of 
equivalent owned assets. 
 
Assets which are held under hire purchase contracts, which have the characteristics of finance leases, 
are depreciated over their useful economic lives. 
 
Service Concession Arrangements 
Fixed assets held under service concession arrangements were revalued in the year ended 31 July 
2022. 
 
Payments under the service concession arrangement are allocated between service costs, finance 
charges and financial liability repayments to reduce the financial liability to nil over the life of the 
arrangement. 
 
Maintenance of Premises 
The College annually determines its maintenance programme based on prioritisation of requirements. 
The College has an Estates Strategy in place to meet the aims of the Strategic Plan. The cost of 
maintenance is charged to the income and expenditure account in the period in which it is incurred. 
 
Foreign Currency Translation 
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate of exchange. Monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into sterling either at year-end rates or, 
where there are related forward foreign exchange contracts, at contract rates. The resulting exchange 
differences are dealt with in the determination of income and expenditure for the financial year. 
 
Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the College has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result 
of a past event, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefit will be required to settle the obligation 
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
 
Where the effect of the time value of money is significant, the estimated cash flows are discounted 
using the discount rate prescribed by the Scottish Funding Council. 
 
Unfunded pensions are accounted for under FRS 102 as required by the Accounts Direction issued by 
the Scottish Funding Council. 
 
 
 
 

Inverness College UHI Financial Statements for the year ended 31st July 2023

48

DocuSign Envelope ID: 19568C61-E963-4B70-BAAE-0BFB53CDBB96



Taxation 
As a registered charity the college benefits by being broadly exempt from corporation tax on income it 
receives from tuition fees, interest and rents. The College is exempted from levying VAT on most of the 
services it provides to students. For this reason, the College is generally unable to recover input VAT it 
suffers on goods and services purchased. 
 
Agency Arrangements 
The College acts as an agent in the collection and payment of certain Student Support Funds. These 
funds are excluded from the income and expenditure account, and movements have been disclosed in 
the notes to the accounts. Where the College has more discretion in the manner in which specific funds 
are disbursed, and these funds do not meet the definition of agency funds, the income and expenditure 
relating to those funds are shown in the College income and expenditure account. 
 
Financial instruments 
Financial instruments are recognised in the Balance sheet when the College becomes party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument.  All of the College’s financial instruments are classified as 
‘basic’ in accordance with Chapter 11 of FRS102.  All of the College’s financial instruments are initially 
measured at transaction price.  At the end of each reporting period, basic financial instruments are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 
 
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire 
or when the College has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.  Financial 
liabilities are derecognised only once the liability has been extinguished through discharge, cancellation 
or expiry. 
 
Employee benefits 
Short term employment benefits such as salaries and compensated absences are recognised as an 
expense in the year in which the employees render service to the College. Any unused benefits are 
accrued and measured as the additional amount the College expects to pay as a result of the unused 
entitlement. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash includes cash in hand, deposits repayable on demand and overdrafts. Deposits are repayable on 
demand if they are in practice available within 24 hours without penalty. Cash equivalents are short 
term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant 
risk of change in value. 
 
Interest receivable 
Interest income is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income using the effective interest 
method. 
 
Debtors 
Short term debtors are measured at transaction price, less any impairment. 
 
Creditors 
Short term creditors are measured at the transaction price. Other financial liabilities, including bank 
loans, are measured initially at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are measured subsequently at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method.  
 
Revaluation Reserve      
Surpluses arising on the revaluation of the College's properties are transferred to the Revaluation 
Reserve.     
 
Pension Schemes 
The College participates in two multi-employer defined benefit pension schemes, more details are in 
note 22. 
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The Scottish Teachers’ Superannuation Scheme  
Teaching staff may join the Scottish Teachers’ Superannuation Scheme (STSS) which is administered 
by the Scottish Public Pensions Agency (SPPS). Inverness College is unable to identify its share of the 
underlying assets and liabilities of the STSS on a consistent and reasonable basis and therefore, as 
required by FRS 102, accounts for its participation in the STSS as if it were a defined contribution 
scheme. The contributions are determined by qualified actuaries on the basis of periodic valuations and 
are recognised in the accounting periods in which they arise. The College is unable to identify its share 
of the underlying assets and liabilities of the scheme on a consistent and reasonable basis and 
therefore, as required by FRS 102, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution 
scheme. As a result, the amounts charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income represent the 
contributions payable to the scheme in the year. 
 
Local Government Pension Scheme 
Support and Research staff may join the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) which is 
administered by Highland Council. The fund is a defined benefit pension scheme. Defined benefit plans 
are post-employment benefit plans other than defined contribution plans.  Under defined benefit plans, 
the College’s obligation is to provide the agreed benefits to current and former employees and actuarial 
risk (that benefits will cost more or less than expected) and investment risk (that returns on assets set 
aside to fund the benefits will differ from expectations) are borne, in substance, by the College.  The 
College recognises a liability for its obligations under defined benefit plans net of plan assets.  This net 
defined benefit liability is measured as the estimated amount of benefit that employees have earned in 
return for their service in the current and prior periods, discounted to determine its present value, less 
the fair value (at bid price) of plan assets.  The calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the 
projected unit credit method.   
 
The future long-term obligation in respect of early retirees who retired in the 1990s, which is not funded 
by the aforementioned pension schemes, is provided for on the Balance Sheet.  This provision is valued 
annually in accordance with guidance issued by the Scottish Funding Council. 
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2. Funding Council Grants 2023 2022
£ £

SFC / RSB Further Education Recurrent Grant 10,170,624 9,547,043
UHI Recurrent Grant - HE provision 4,794,883 5,038,490
Childcare funds 122,084 120,279
Other specific SFC / RSB Grants - FE 5,603,358 5,481,855
Other specific UHI Grants - HE 552,134 490,976
Release of deferred grants (note 18) 1,129,650 881,724

22,372,733 21,560,367

3. Tuition fees and education contracts 2023 2022
£ £

Higher Education - Home and EU 2,445,145 2,791,623
Higher Education - Overseas 137,272 137,560
Further Education - Home 85,026 142,012
Further Education - Overseas 100 13,563
Education contracts 2,180,781 2,111,352

4,848,324 5,196,110

4. Other income 2023 2022
£ £

Other income generating activities 918,560 779,528
Foundation Grant Income - -
Research Income 634,350 479,790
Furlough Income - 6,124
Other income 2,022,597 935,488

3,575,507 2,200,930

5. Investment income 2023 2022
£ £

Bank interest 32,166 1,874

6. Staff costs

2023 2022
Number Number

Academic/Teaching departments 163 152
Academic/Teaching services 20 17.5
Research grants and contracts 16 12.5
Administration and central services 129 123
Premises 7 8
Residences and catering 12 13
Other expenditure 3 5

350 331

The average monthly number of persons (including senior post-holders) employed by the College during 
the period, expressed as full-time quivalents was:
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Staff costs for the above persons: 2023 2022
£ £

Wages and salaries 15,419,222 12,701,553
Social security costs 1,327,856 1,259,276
Other pension costs 2,722,450 2,514,680
Pension adjustment - Net Service Cost 742,000 2,173,000

20,211,528 18,648,509

2023 2022
£ £

Academic/Teaching departments 10,947,394 9,538,820
Academic/Teaching services 1,592,921 1,333,457
Research grants and contracts 887,016 659,160
Administration and central services 5,332,126 4,311,563
Premises 308,562 277,550
Residences and catering 401,509 354,959
Pension adjustment - Net Service Cost 742,000 2,173,000

20,211,528 18,648,509

Staff costs on permanent contracts 19,747,643 18,242,669
Staff costs for short-term and temporary contracts 463,885 405,840

20,211,528 18,648,509

2023 2022
Number Number

£60,001 to £70,000 0 0
£70,001 to £80,000 0 3
£80,001 to £90,000 2 0
£90,001 to £100,000 0 0
£100,001 to £110,000 0 1
£110,001 to £120,000 0 0
£120,001 to £130,000 1 0

7. Senior post-holders' emoluments 2023 2022
Number Number

Number of senior post-holders including the Principal 3 4

Senior post-holders emoluments are as follows: £ £
Salaries 297,781 349,207
Pension contributions 60,133 71,964

357,914 421,171

The number of staff, including senior post-holders and the Principal, who received emoluments (including
benefits in kind but excluding pension contributions) in the following ranges was:
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2023 2022
£ £

Salary 121,550 109,786
Pension contributions 27,957 25,251

149,507 135,037

8. Other operating expenses 2023 2022
£ £

Academic/Teaching departments and services 2,191,977 2,061,249
Research grants and contracts 81,359 122,341
Administration and central services 1,039,933 1,506,572
Premises 2,539,272 2,469,507
Residences and catering 407,770 207,489
Other expenditure 772,998 669,097
Childcare Funds to Students 122,084 120,279

7,155,393 7,156,534

Other operating expenses include:

Auditors remuneration (including irrecoverable VAT)
Internal audit 23,112 21,951
External audit 33,970 21,030

Disbursements of Childcare Funds to Students 122,084 120,279
Rents under operating leases: 

Land and buildings 62,348 26,505
Other assets 5,277 15,036

9. Interest payable 2023 2022
£ £

Interest on pension liabilities 84,000 277,000
Interest on finance lease NPD concession 2,925,495 2,878,555

3,009,495 3,155,555

10. Taxation

Emoluments payable to the Principal, who is also the highest paid senior post-holder:

The Principal is an ordinary member of the Scottish Teachers' Superannuation Scheme. The College's
contributions to the scheme, in relation to the Prinicipal, are paid at the same rate as for other members of
Academic Staff. The Principal started in post on 1 September 2017. The Principal has not received any
benefits in addition to his remuneration.

The members of the Board of Management, other than the Principal and staff, did not receive any payment
from the College other than reimbursement of travel and subsistence expenses incurred in the course of
their duties.

As a registered charity, the College is exempt from Corporation Tax on the income it receives from tuition

fees, interest and rents and therefore the College Board believes it has no liability in this regard.

Inverness College UHI Financial Statements for the year ended 31st July 2023

53

DocuSign Envelope ID: 19568C61-E963-4B70-BAAE-0BFB53CDBB96



11. Tangible fixed assets Land and
Buildings Equipment Total

£ £ £
Cost or valuation
At 1 August 2022 59,719,986 5,991,510 65,711,496
Additions 138,378 310,014 448,392
Revaluations -                     - -
Disposals -                     - -
At 31 July 2023 59,858,364 6,301,524 66,159,888

Depreciation
At 1 August 2022 2,748,981 5,991,510 8,740,491
Depreciation charge for year 1,188,695 - 1,188,695
Revaluations - - -
Disposals - - -
At 31 July 2023 3,937,676 5,991,510 9,929,186

Net book value at 31 July 2023 55,920,688 310,014 56,230,702

Net book value at 31 July 2022 56,971,005 - 56,971,005

12. Stocks 2023 2022

Stocks 47,794 52,555

13. Assets held for sale 2023 2022

At 1 August 2021 2,300,000 2,000,000
Revaluation 300,000
Impairment (1,060,000) 0
Assets held for sale 1,240,000 2,300,000

14. Debtors 2023 2022
£ £

Trade debtors 427,233 788,962
Accrued income 2,189,092 1,552,087
Financial instrument assets 2,616,325 2,341,049
Prepayments 186,025 154,630
Other Debtors 0 0

2,802,350 2,495,679

15. Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year 2023 2022
£ £

Trade creditors 233,717 586,175
Service concession NPD creditor (see note 16) 941,231 897,592
Accruals 4,787,041 3,888,379
Financial instrument liabilities 5,961,989 5,372,146
Deferred income 541,181 601,554
Deferred capital grant - SFC 282,892 235,145
Deferred capital grant - Non SFC 1,301,234 61,234
Payroll taxes and social security 320,018 436,855
Other Creditors 14,246 20,257

8,421,560 6,727,191

The Longman site was classified as an Asset held for sale. The College actively sought to market and sell
the asset since May 2020. A number of third parties had expressed interest in the site but no sale plans
had progressed at the year end. The site was subsequently sold in December 2023. The value at 31st July
2023 was impaired to reflect the post year end sale proceeds. 

Inverness College UHI Financial Statements for the year ended 31st July 2023

54

DocuSign Envelope ID: 19568C61-E963-4B70-BAAE-0BFB53CDBB96



16. Creditors: Amounts falling due after one year 2023 2022
£ £

Service concession NPD creditor (see note below) 33,829,781 34,690,806
Financial instrument liabilities 33,829,781 34,690,806
Deferred capital grant - SFC 6,005,383 6,144,998
Deferred capital grant - Non SFC 459,553 2,546,308

40,294,717 43,382,112

Service Concession Arrangements

Within Two - Five More than Total
One Year Years Five Years

£ £ £ £
NPD liability creditor repayment 941,231 4,760,304 29,069,477 34,771,012
Interest thereon 2,858,303 10,581,113 17,589,537 31,028,953
Service charges 813,942 3,464,404 12,442,981 16,721,327
VAT 922,695 3,761,164 11,820,399 16,504,258

5,536,171 22,566,985 70,922,394 99,025,550

The Scottish Funding Council provides the College with grants to fund the Unitary Charge, including hard facilities
management costs, and 50% of lifecycle maintenance costs.

The new Campuses are held under a Service Concession Arrangement which, at a minimum, will be repaid as
follows:

Under the arrangements the College makes monthly Service Charge "Unitary Charge" payments. These include
capital repayment element of the liability which reduces the amount outstanding in Creditors in the Balance Sheet.

Also within the Unitary Charge are charges for interest on the debt outstanding, together with premises service
charges, both of which are included within the Statement of Comprehensive Income, under Interest Payable and
Other Operating Expenses respectively.

The term of the debt is 25 years and the contract end date is 30 April 2040. The contract expires automatically at 
the end of the term, at which point the assets pass into the College's ownership.

The College can deduct amounts where Availability and Performance fall short of contract, during the full term of
the contract.
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17. Early Retirement and Other Provisions

Early Defined Other Total
Retirement Pension Provisions

Pension Liability/(Asset)
£ £ £ £

At 1 August 2021 2,076,074 16,284,000 0 18,360,074
Expenditure in period (131,164) 0 (131,164)
Provision in period (318,011) (14,246,000) 0 (14,564,011)
Interest charged 0
At 31 July 2022 1,626,899 2,038,000 0 3,664,899

At 1 August 2022 1,626,899 2,038,000 0 3,664,899
Expenditure in period (135,457) 0 (135,457)
Provision in period 278,700 (6,928,000) 0 (6,649,300)
Interest charged 0
At 31 July 2023 1,770,142 (4,890,000) 0 (3,119,858)

18. Deferred Capital Grants
SFC Other Total

£ £ £
At 1 August 2022
Land and Buildings 6,380,143 2,607,542 8,987,685
Equipment 0 0 0
Cash received
Land and Buildings 191,028 0 191,028
Equipment 0 0 0
Released to income and expenditure
Land and Buildings (282,895) (846,755) (1,129,650)
Equipment 0
Repayment of grant on disposal 0 0 0
Release on disposals 0 0 0
At 31 July 2023: 6,288,276 1,760,787 8,049,063

Land and Buildings 6,288,276 1,760,787 8,049,063
Equipment 0 0 0

Due < 1 year (Note 15) 282,892 1,301,234 1,584,126
Due > 1 year (Note 16) 6,005,383 459,553 6,464,936

6,288,275 1,760,787 8,049,062

The Early Retirement Provision has been revalued using actuarial tables supplied by the Scottish Funding Council. The net interest
rate applied was 0.75%. The above liability is in respect of future pension liabilities arising from early retirals.

The pension liability is as per the actuarial report valuation.
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19. Financial Commitments

The College had annual commitments under non-cancellable operating leases:
2023 2022

£ £
Land and buildings:
Expiring within one year 45,000 0
Expiring between two and five years 78,750 0

123,750 0
Other:
Expiring within one year 0 7,880
Expiring between two and five years 0 0
Expiring after five years 0 0

0 7,880

20. Further Education Bursary and Other Student Support Funds

2023 2023 2023 2023
Further FE EMA Other

Education Disc HE 2023 2022
Bursary Disc Total Total

£ £ £ £ £ £

0 0 (1,620) 8,195 6,575

2,324,488 264,458 71,040 123,318 2,783,304

Expenditure (1,823,895) (264,458) (71,040) (118,646) (2,278,039)

0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0

Virements 0 0 0 0 0

500,593 0 (1,620) 12,867 511,840
Represented by:

0 0 0 0 0

500,593 0 (1,620) 12,867 511,840

0 0 0 0 0
Retained by College for 
Students 0

445,717

Repayable to Funding 
Council as clawback

Repayable to region

0

2,830,776

(2,385,059)

Balance b/fwd

0

0
Repaid to Funding 
Council as clawback

College Contribution to 
funds

Allocation received in 
year

Intra-region allocations

Balance c/fwd 445,717

0

0
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20. Further and Higher Education Childcare Funds (continued)

2023
Total

£

0

122,084

Expenditure (122,084)

0

0

Virements 0

0
Represented by:

0

0

0

21. Capital Commitments

Repaid to Funding Council as clawback 0

College Contribution to funds Intra-region allocations 0

Balance b/fwd 0

Allocation received in year 120,279

(120,279)

2022
Total

£

0

Balance c/fwd 0

Repayable to Funding Council as clawback 0

Repayable to region 0

Retained by College for Students 0

As at July 2023, there were no capital commitments.
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22. Pension Provisions

Pension Scheme contributions
Year Ended Year Ended
31 July 2023 31 July 2022

£ £
The total cost to the College was:

Contributions to Scottish Public Pensions Agency 1,684,601 1,600,526
Contributions to Highland Council Pension Scheme 1,037,588 912,939
Contributions to Nest 260 1,215
Total pension cost 2,722,449 2,514,680

Pension benefits for employees are provided through a) the Scottish Teachers' Superannuation
Scheme (STSS), a defined benefit scheme, which was a nationally funded and contracted out of State
Earnings-Related Pension Scheme until 1 April 2016 when it stopped being contracted out; and b) the
Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS).

Both STSS and LGPS were final salary pension schemes until 31 March 2015. From 1 April 2015 they
are Career Average Revalued Earnings (CARE) pension schemes. This means that pension benefits
are based on the final year's pay and the number of years that the person has been a member of the
scheme.

The scheme's normal retirement age is 60 or 65 depending on the length of membership in the scheme.
Contribution rates are set  annually for all employees.

There is no automatic entitlement to a lump sum. Members may opt to give up (commute) pension for
lump sum up to the limit set by the Finance Act 2004. The accrual rate guarantees a pernsion based on
final pensionable salary and years of pensionable service.

Scottish Teachers Superannuation Scheme (STSS)

The STSS scheme is an unfunded defined benefits scheme. Contributions on a pay as you go basis are
credited to the Exchequer under arrangements governed by the Superannuation Act 1972. A notional
asset value is ascribed to the Scheme for the purpose of determining  contribution rates.

Under the definitions set out in the Financial Reporting Standard 102, the STSS is a multi-employer
Pension Scheme. The College is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities of
the scheme. Accordingly, the College has accounted for its contributions as if it were a Defined
Contribution Scheme. The agreed contribution rates for future years are variable rates for employees
based on salary ranges.  Employers contribution rates are 23%.

Local Government Pension Scheme 

The Highland Council Pension Fund is a funded Defined Benefits Scheme, with the assets held in
separate trustee administered funds. Employers contribution rates are 18.1% from 1st April 2022 to 31st 
March 2023 and 18.6% from 1st April 2023.

Contributions for both schemes are set out below:-
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22. Pension Provisions (continued)

Assumptions

31 July 2023 31 July 2022
Rate of Increase in Salaries 3.80% 3.55%
Rate of Increase in Pensions 3.00% 2.75%
Inflation Assumption (RPI) - -
Inflation Assumption (CPI) - -

5.05% 3.5%

Equities 69% 68%
Bonds 10% 11%
Property 15% 17%
Cash 6% 4%

31 July 2023 31 July 2022
Years Years

Retiring Today
Males 20.7 20.8
Females 23.5 23.3
Retiring in 20 Years
Males 21.6 22.0
Females 25.1 25.3

The Employer contributions for the year to 31 July 2023 will be approximately £1,047,000
for the LGPS.

31 July 2023 31 July 2022
£ £

Current Service Cost (1,796,000) (3,084,000)
Interest on obligation (1,339,000) (854,000)
Interest Income on Plan assets 1,255,000 577,000
Total (1,880,000) (3,361,000)

Other Comprehensive Income 
Remeasurements (assets and liabilities) 7,754,000 16,630,000

Present Value of the Defined Benefit Obligation (31,796,000) (37,548,000)
Present Value of Unfunded Benefit Obligations (73,000) (72,000)

(31,869,000) (37,620,000)
Fair Value of Plan Assets 36,759,000 35,582,000
Net Asset/(Liability) 4,890,000 (2,038,000)

The assets and liabilities recognised in the Balance Sheet are as follows:

Discount rate for scheme liabilities

The estimated split of investments in the scheme at the Balance Sheet Date were as follows:

The assumed life expectations on retirement age 65 are:-

The amounts recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income are as follows:
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22. Pension Provisions (continued)

Reconciliation of present value of defined benefit obligations

31 July 2023 31 July 2022
£ £

Opening Defined Benefit Obligation 37,620,000 52,081,000
Service Cost 1,796,000 3,084,000
Interest on Pension Liability 1,339,000 854,000
Contibutions by Scheme Participants 347,000 308,000
Actuarial (Gains)/Losses (8,452,000) (17,983,000)
Unfunded Benefits Paid (7,000) (7,000)
Benefits Paid (774,000) (717,000)
Closing Defined Benefit Obligation 31,869,000 37,620,000

Reconciliation of Movements in the Fair Value of Scheme Assets

Opening Fair Value of Scheme Assets 35,582,000 35,863,000
Interest on Plan Assets 1,255,000 577,000
Contributions by Scheme Participants 347,000 308,000
Contributions by Employer 1,047,000 904,000
Contributions in respect of Unfunded Benefits 7,000 7,000
Expected Return on Scheme Assets (698,000) (1,353,000)
Unfunded Benefits paid (7,000) (7,000)
Benefits paid (774,000) (717,000)
Closing Fair Value of Scheme Assets 36,759,000 35,582,000

23. Post Balance Sheet Events

24. Contingent Liabilities

25. Related Party Transactions

The EIS trade union has made a claim regarding supply hours for teaching staff. The is an ongoing dispute, however,
we do not expect any significant claims to arise from this.

Due to the nature of the College's operation and the composition of its Board of Management (being drawn from local
public and private sector organisations), it is possible that transactions will take place with organisations in which a
member of the College's Board of Management may have an interest. All transactions involving organisations in
which a member of the Board of Management may have an interest are conducted at arms length in accordance with
normal project and procurement procedures.

The Longman site was sold in December 2023. The value at 31st July 2023 was impaired to reflect the final sale
proceeds.
In June 2023, the UK High Court issued a ruling in the case of Virgin Media Limited v NTL Pension Trustees II Limited
and others relating to the validity of certain historical pension changes. This case may have implications for other
defined schemes in the UK. The impact of the case is continuing to be assessed and any potential impact on the
College accounts will be considered in future years.
For 2022/23 there was a triennial valuation carried out, which has been used for the pension disclosures within the
accounts.

Inverness College UHI Financial Statements for the year ended 31st July 2023

61

DocuSign Envelope ID: 19568C61-E963-4B70-BAAE-0BFB53CDBB96



Organisation Member(s) Income Expenditure Balance Balance
2022-23 2022-23 Due From Due to

at 31 Jul 23 at 31 Jul 23
£ £ £ £

Highland Council Tina Stones 46,344 -62,227 3,846 -259

Highlands & 
Islands 
Enterprise

Gillian Galloway 1,500 0 1,500 0

NatureScot Sally Blyth 80,290 0 0 0

Skills 
Development 
Scotland

Stephen Sheridan 13,325 0 0 0

We have reviewed all transactions and identified below those related party transactions that could be considered
material to either party.

No Board of Management members, with the exception of the Principal and staff, receive emoluments other than
travel and subsistence expenses. The volume of voluntary commitment made was considerable and is greatly
appreciated.

The Board of Management of Inverness College is a body incorporated under the Further and Higher Education
(Scotland) Act 1992 sponsored by The Scottish Funding Council (SFC). SFC is regarded as a related party. During
the year Inverness College had various material transactions with SFC and with other entities for which SFC is
regarded as the sponsor Department eg Student Awards Agency for Scotland. On the basis of guidance from the
SFC these transactions do not require to be disclosed.

During the period the College had various material transactions with the University of the Highlands & Islands, which
received university title on 2 February 2011. The College receives funding for higher education activity through UHI
Executive Office. Funding in respect of further education activity is distributed by UHI Executive Office acting as the
Regional Strategic Body to which the College has been assigned.
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Accounting Estimates and Judgements        
        
The financial statements contain estimated figures that are based on assumptions made by the College 
about the future or that are otherwise uncertain. Estimates are made taking into consideration historical 
experience, current trends and other relevant factors based on the information available to the College 
at the time of preparing the financial statements.        
However, because balances cannot be determined with certainty, actual results could be materially 
different from the assumptions and estimates.        
        
The items in the College's Balance Sheet at 31 July 2023 for which there is a significant risk of material 
adjustment in the forthcoming financial year are as follows:       
        
Pensions Liability        
Estimation of the net liability to pay pensions depends on a number of complex judgements relating to 
the discount rate used, the rate at which salaries are projected to increase, changes in retirement ages, 
mortality rates and expected returns, on pension fund assets. A firm of consulting actuaries is engaged 
to provide the College with expert advice about the assumptions to be applied by the College in 
estimating these values at the balance sheet date.        
        
The actuarial inputs into the pension liability valuation are subject to annual review and have a 
significant impact on the potential valuation. Historically it is common for small changes in the discount 
rate, salary assumption rate and pension rate to have material impacts on the year end valuations on 
a year to year basis. We have outlined the potential impact of future changes below. The pension asset 
at 31 July 2023 following the updated actuarial valuation was £4,890,0000, a decrease in liability of 
£6,928,000 from 31 July 2022.        
        
Given the history of significant changes to liability valuations in the past, the ongoing sensitivity to future 
changes, and the requirement to update assumptions annually, the College expects future liabilities to 
continue to change significantly going forward.        
        
More information on the key assumptions used in the actuarial valuation of the estimates is available in 
note 22 to the accounts, including information on the key assumptions, risks and sensitivities. 
          
Valuation of Property        
The valuation of the College's estate which is subject to revaluation are subject to significant estimation 
due to a number of factors, including ongoing changes to estimates around the costs of replacing 
existing assets, the market value fluctuation of comparable assets used for valuation, the current 
condition and future maintenance costs of assets, changes to regulatory standards and the remaining 
useful economic lives of the assets. Given the material nature of the College's assets, there is a high 
likelihood that changes in these estimates will result in material changes in the valuation of assets on 
the balance sheet. The total value of the College's assets at 31 July 2023 is outlined and broken down 
by asset category at note 11.        
        
Land and Buildings were independently valued for the purposes of the financial statements by J & E 
Shepherd, Chartered Surveyors. The basis of valuation was depreciated replacement cost. The latest 
full valuation for the full fixed asset portfolio was undertaken as at 31 July 2019. An interim review of 
the fixed asset year-end valuation as at 31 July 2022 confirmed that there was no impairment to the 
properties to be recognised in these financial statements. The College did not apply any annual 
indexation to its Fixed Asset Portfolio at 31 July 2023.      
  
Job Evaluation        
The National Job Evaluation Scheme is an ongoing exercise whereby both roles and salary costs are 
being reviewed for support staff across the College sector. Any changes to salary costs would be 
effective from 1 September 2018 and therefore any revisions would be backdated. Colleges Scotland 
prepared estimated costings of the exercise in February 2019 which the Scottish Funding Council has 
utilised to inform Colleges of the expected grant award to fund the cost of implementing and cost to be 
accounted for. In line with SFC guidance, the College has accrued the estimated backdated pay costs 
and the estimated grant income in the last three financial years. At 31 July 2023, the College had 
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accrued for income and expenditure of £1,652,948. Payment of both the grant income and costs will 
not be made until the exercise has fully concluded.       
        
As the exercise has not yet concluded, the estimated income and costs are subject to change. 
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Accounts direction for Scotland’s colleges 2022/23  
 

1. It is the Scottish Funding Council’s direction that institutions1 comply with the 2019 Statement of 
Recommended Practice: Accounting for Further and Higher Education (SORP) in preparing their 
annual report and accounts2.  

 
2. Institutions must comply with the accounts direction in the preparation of their annual report and 

accounts in accordance with the Financial Memorandum with the Scottish Funding Council (SFC) 
or the Regional Strategic Body (RSB) (for assigned colleges).  

 
3. Incorporated colleges and Glasgow Colleges’ Regional Board are also required to comply with 

the Government Financial Reporting Manual 2022/23 (FReM) where applicable. In cases where 
there is a conflict between the FReM and the SORP, the latter will take precedence. 

 
4. Incorporated colleges and Glasgow Colleges’ Regional Board must send two copies of their 

annual report and accounts to the Auditor General for Scotland by 31 December 2023.  
 

5. The annual report and accounts should be signed by the chief executive officer/Executive Director 
and by the chair, or one other member of the governing body. 

 
6. Incorporated colleges and Glasgow Colleges’ Regional Board should reproduce this Direction as 

an appendix to the annual report and accounts.  
 
 

Scottish Funding Council  
20 July 2023 

 
1. The term “institutions” includes colleges and Glasgow Colleges’ Regional Board. 
2. Glasgow Colleges’ Regional Board’s accounts are prepared on a consolidated basis, incorporating the results of City of Glasgow 

College, Glasgow Clyde College and Glasgow Kelvin College.  New College Lanarkshire’s accounts are also prepared on a 
consolidated basis, incorporating the results of South Lanarkshire College. 
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